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Thursday, March 4, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just give us a minute to get our screens set.  And it looks like we have everyone.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good morning.  The OEB is sitting today for an application by Enbridge regarding its integrated resource plan proposal.  Case number is EB-2020-0091.  I've said it enough times now.  I think I remember it.  This is the final day of the oral hearing.  My name is Lynne Anderson, and I'm presiding today.  Along with me are my fellow commissioners, Susan Frank and Michael Janigan.

We've done quite well so far, knock wood, to avoid any significant technical issues, but as a reminder, if you are unable to rejoin, if you lose a connection, we will try to reschedule you, but we don't intend to extend the hearing beyond today, so if you cannot get connected, we will attempt to accommodate, but you can also have others ask questions, including OEB Staff could step in to do that.
Preliminary Matters:


I have one preliminary matter, or I turn -- ask the parties.  We will be establishing a schedule for written submissions at the end of today.  We -- but just -- we have got more people here right now.  I'm going to tell you what the plan is.  We plan to schedule a written argument-in-chief for March the 17th, the submissions of parties March the 31st, and reply submission on April 21st.  We took into account that Easter falls within the timing for the reply submission.  

We're also going to be setting a page limit on submissions of 50 pages.  There is no expectation that you have a 50-page submission, just don't go over this limit.  

Mr. Stevens, we do recognize that Enbridge will be responding in its reply to the submissions of others, and there are by my count 22 intervenors, plus OEB Staff, so while we expect you to consider brevity in your reply, we will permit you to exceed this 50-page limit for your reply submission if necessary.

We expect that the submissions will be very clear on what approach you expect to be taken for Enbridge's IRP framework and what specifically you think the OEB should be approving.

To the extent possible, it would be helpful if parties would follow the format provided by Enbridge in its argument-in-chief.  We will follow up with a written procedural order after the hearing.

And are there any other preliminary matters that we should address this morning?

MR. STEVENS:  None from Enbridge, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Seeing none, next up we have panel 4 with Mr. Millar and Guidehouse, so I will turn it over to Mr. Millar to introduce his witnesses.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  And if I could ask the Guidehouse witnesses to turn their cameras on.

Madam Chair, I'm pleased to present the Guidehouse panel.  We have three witnesses this morning, and their CVs have been circulated to the Board and to the parties.  First we have Mr. Paul Moran, who is the associate director in Guidehouse's energy sustainability and infrastructure practice; then we have Mr. Jim Young, who is an associate director in the technology, innovation, and management group at Guidehouse; and finally, last but not least, we have Mr. Jeremy Newberger, and Jeremy is an associate director in Guidehouse's clean energy program practice area.

As I say, their CVs were circulated which outline their expertise, and we are asking to have them qualified as experts in natural gas system planning, including non-pipeline alternatives and IRP.  I've broached this topic with the parties before, and to the best of my understanding there are no objections, so if there are none, I'm asking the Board to qualify them on that basis.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Mr. Millar, I guess my question is should we affirm them first or qualify them first?

MR. MILLAR:  I was going to affirm right after qualification, but I'm entirely in the Board's hands.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let's get them affirmed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.
OEB STAFF - PANEL 4
Paul Moran,
Jim Young,
Jeremy Newberger; Affirmed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Thank you.  And so Mr. Millar, just for our sake, could you read out the criteria that you're qualifying them as experts?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm happy to do so.  In fact, it's the same qualifications that were afforded to the ICF experts, and that is experts in natural gas system planning, including non-pipeline alternatives and IRP.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  The Panel has had the opportunity to read the CVs, and we do accept the witnesses as experts, so we can proceed on that basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you so much.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, witnesses.  I'm going to direct my questions through Mr. Moran, but of course the rest of you can chime in as necessary.

Mr. Moran, a report has been filed in this proceeding by Guidehouse called "natural gas integrated resource planning in New York State and Ontario"; is that right?

MR. MORAN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And can you confirm that this report was prepared by you and the Guidehouse team?

MR. MORAN:  That is also correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this would also be true of all the interrogatory responses that were filed relating to the report?

MR. MORAN:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you and the Guidehouse team adopt this evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. MORAN:  Correct.  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just by way of a quick summary, could you give a high-level description of the purpose of the report that Guidehouse was asked to prepare in this proceeding?

MR. MORAN:  Yes.  Guidehouse was asked to develop a natural gas IRP report to contribute to the OEB's review of IRP for Enbridge Gas.  We did this by generating expert analysis of natural gas IRP in New York State, and we assessed the relevance of the New York State evidence to the situation in Ontario.  New York State was selected for consideration as a comparator based on ongoing work that has been ongoing activity in gas IRP in New York State, much more advanced relative to other North American jurisdictions.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  And can you please describe the evolution and current status of natural IRP programs and policies in New York and the key jurisdictional differences from Ontario that are relevant to natural gas IRP?

MR. MORAN:  Jim?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  So within New York State the gas utilities and the Public Service Commission have developed a range of gas IRP solutions to address pipeline expansion limitations, peak demand reduction needs, the need to avoid moratoria on new customer connections, as well as other goals.  The utilities developed the regulatory framework and operational practices to execute these programs in a short period of time.  The programs are developed in reaction to urgent issues affecting system reliability, particularly related to delayed and cancelled pipeline capacity practice.  Many of these pilots and programs are ongoing today, and as we'll discuss is that there is -- much of the material is ongoing within other proceedings.  In particular, the New York DPS staff released a white paper on February 12th that described their thoughts around a proposed framework which will be then further developed in upcoming forums.

Within our report -- in section 6 of our report, as well as in response to intervenor question 1, BOMA 15, we outline key differences between the Enbridge Gas service territory and those within the New York State gas utilities that may be relevant for this discussion.

I'll just talk through these very quickly.  Utility types, both Con Edison and National Grid in New York State are both natural gas and electric utilities, which offers different opportunities and perspectives relative to a single-fuel utility, which is Enbridge Gas' situation.

In terms of gas supply issues, as I mentioned, New York State had very near-term risks for the utility's ability to meet customer demand for natural gas and resulted in near-term moratoria for new customer connections in parts of the service territories of Con Edison and National Grid.

Ontario does not currently face the same gas supply issues at present in those two service territories.

In terms of environmental goals, New York State has established ambitious climate goals of 85 percent gas reduction by 2050.  How exactly it is being implemented in the state is still ongoing, and it's Guidehouse's understanding that state policy makers have not made an explicit announcement regarding the future of gas consumption or restriction of infrastructure.

Nevertheless, the trend exists in the state and utilities recognize these challenges for future gas infrastructure expansion.

Ontario has a different environmental landscape and timeline, and some of the underlying drivers may be different.

Lastly, experience with IRP solutions; New York State has pursued both natural gas and electric IRP type solutions, particularly around the electric non-wires alternatives programs.  And much of the non-pipe solution programs in New York State are based off the experiences from those non-wires programs and frameworks, and lessons learned.

Ontario is currently conducting a few pilots related to non-pipe solutions and non-wires alternatives, but is earlier in the process than New York State.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Can you please briefly describe ConEd's NPA, or non-pipeline alternatives framework proposal, including the regulatory context for that proposal and how it compares with Enbridge's IRP proposal in this proceeding?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  In September 2020, ConEd submitted a proposal to the New York State Public Service Commission under its rate plan proceeding to outline a potential framework to pursue non-pipe alternatives that could defer or replace traditional infrastructure projects.  The proposed framework was developed with staff and stakeholders, and builds on the experiences from early pilots for both the gas network and the electric non-wires alternatives.

As of today, I should note the PSC has not commented on this proposal.  More specifically, in terms of how the proposal would fit into the gas planning process, ConEd has proposed to integrate non-pipes alternatives in its gas planning process, including looking one year earlier than work on traditional infrastructure projects would be scheduled to begin.  ConEdison's proposal outlined the types of projects to be considered, as well as what they would consider as large- and small-sized projects based off of timeline budget estimates.

For further details, Guidehouse was asked to prepare the proposal process in detail for ConEdison and Enbridge within the interrogatory Pollution Probe 5.  In short, it is Guidehouse's opinion that the elements of Enbridge Gas's proposed process conceptually aligns with the ConEdison proposed NPA framework process.

There are elements within the two processes that are not one to one match, with some overlap expected to different number of steps.

On the topic of approval, ConEdison requested approval from the PSC on the overall process and framework and described how the utility works with the PSC to gain approval for projects.

Enbridge Gas has proposed a conceptually similar process to ConEdison's, where Enbridge Gas would seek guidance from OEB and apply to the OEB for approval.

Cost recovery; ConEdison's proposal would treat implementation costs as a regulatory asset and recover those based off the approved pre-tax rate of return.

Enbridge Gas has suggested that IRPA investments would be treated as capital costs, which would allow Enbridge Gas to include these costs in revenue requirement and earn a are rate of return the IRPAs.

One point of difference is the right to shareholder incentives.  New York State has allowed earning adjustment mechanisms, or EAMs, and ConEdison's electricity and natural gas DSM programs.  They have also extended these to -- or ConEdison is requested that these also be extended to the  to the NPA framework under slightly different rules, whereas the EAMs for DSM can adjust rate of return within the rate base, the MPA framework proposed to calculate shared net benefits of the specific program in comparison with a default for the project.

Enbridge Gas indicated that incentivization of IRPA may not be needed to achieve its objectives, providing equal footing for both traditional capital investments and IRPAs.

Risk is a topic that is still under development. Enbridge Gas states that ratepayers should bear the cost of successes or failures of IRPAs, and list their reasons.  New York State utilities have also identified risks with relying on unconventional approaches to address future capacity needs, but the decision was how to allocate risk to shareholders and ratepayers is still undetermined.  In particular, Enbridge Gas highlights cost risk where in New York State, utilities have focused on suppliers.

In terms of cost-effectiveness, ConEdison developed a benefit cost handbook specifically designed for non-pipeline solutions, and presents ample BCA methodologies on how to ascribe and calculate individual benefits and costs for NPS projects, as well as how to provide those cost benefits tests when performing and completing projects.  The handbook provides several generic examples for the different types of solutions, such as renewable natural gas, local gas storage, fuel switching, end use appliances and demand response.

ConEdison has proposed using the societal cost test as the primary test, with the UCT and the RIM test as secondary tests.

Within our intervenor response to 1-BOMA-13 and the undertaking from the technical conference, we provided a side-by-side comparison and summarized the differences of benefits and costs within the ConEdison handbook and the OEB guidance documents for natural gas DSM, transmission expansion projects, and fusion expansion projects.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Very briefly, can you give us Guidehouse's key recommendations from your report?

MR. YOUNG:  Paul?

MR. MORAN:  I want to confirm, Michael, that my audio is coming across okay.  The question at hand is to briefly summarize our recommendations, and I will do that right now.

Our first recommendation is that there should be the development of a comprehensive benefit cost handbook for the IRP that can support the evaluation of infrastructure, supply side and demand side solutions, with similar assumptions.

Recommendation number two is to consider how to align and sequence gas planning activities with regulatory activities, so that the utility decision making process and the OEB decision-making process are mutually supported.  For example, filings and related proceeding around gas supply, transportation planning, infrastructure maintenance, energy efficiency and demand-side management will all have relevance for identifying resource planning needs and opportunities, and having a logical sequence of activities can lead to a more consistent, up-to-date view of these matters for IRP planning.

Recommendation three is that the gas IRP framework should be consistent with the regulatory framework for natural gas infrastructure approvals in Ontario.

Recommendation number four, the gas IRP framework should be consistent and aligned with Ontario provincial goals.

Recommendation number five; the OEB should work to consider common understanding amongst stakeholders for the gas IRP process, and how benefits, costs, risk, and other parameters that will be shared by shareholders, ratepayers an other parties.

Recommendation number six; the OEB should develop a gas IRP framework to provide utilities with sufficient flexibility to quickly adjust program design, budget, implementation plan and other processes to adopt IRP programs to each specific situation.

And lastly, the OEB and the IESO should consider developing specific electric non-wire alternative frameworks in the future, should the OEB and the IESO consider developing specific electric non-wire alternative framework.  The OEB should consider aligning gas IRP and electricity IRP frameworks to share the cost and resource investment to develop operational processes, program design, benefit-cost analysis, and other aspects of either IRP proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you.  Okay.  And finally just one last question.  Have there been any major developments in natural gas IRP in New York State since the filing of the Guidehouse report?  And if you could briefly, because we're getting close to the end of our time, briefly describe any such developments and their potential relevance to Ontario?

MR. MORAN:  Sure.  On February 12th the New York State gas -- New York State Public Service Commission staff filed a staff gas system planning proposal.  I believe this is in included in tab 10 of the Staff compendium.

The -- that is the major development, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you so much.  Madam Chair, with that the panel is available for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar and Guidehouse.  So Mr. Stevens.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Panel, good morning, Guidehouse panel.  My name is David Stevens, and I represent Enbridge Gas in this proceedings, and I have just a few questions for you this morning.

I would like to start by exploring what I understand to be some points of agreement or commonality between Enbridge Gas's IRP proposal and Guidehouse's evidence, and for that I would like to start by looking at the industry best practices for natural gas IRP that you described starting at page 2 of your report.  This is in my compendium.  Stephanie, can you turn up the compendium at page 3 of the PDF version?

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Stevens, I don't believe this has been marked yet, so I would propose to call this Exhibit K4.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  ENBRIDGE COMPENDIUM.

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  Thank you.  Now, as I say, this is from page 2 of your report, and it sets out what your proposed industry best practices for natural gas IRP, and if we look at the second item on the page that's projected, my interpretation of what you're saying is that you agree with Enbridge Gas's position that IRPA solutions can be more uncertain or risky than pipeline solutions in terms of meeting identified needs or constraints; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  This is Mr. Young.  So I can take [audio dropout]  Yes, so through our research and in conversation with Con Edison [audio dropout] they have [audio dropout]


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm sorry to interrupt, Mr. Young.  Your audio is cutting out.

MR. YOUNG:  How is this?  Are you able to hear me now?

THE REPORTER:  I'm able to hear you.  It's just you were cutting out.  Maybe you were turning away from the mic, so I was losing words.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, you faded a bit in and out.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  I'll try to stay still as best as possible.

So in our conversation with Con Edison and National Grid, as well as in the various filings put forward in New York State, there is a general understanding that, yes, there are additional risks in how the evaluation of the non-traditional approaches compares against traditional infrastructure.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And do I have it right your evidence indicates that utility program managers overcome these risks by over-subscribing IRP solutions in participating customers?

MR. YOUNG:  They have in certain instances, I think, but it is still an evolving topic and how exactly risk is handled and will be handled for the variety of IRP solutions.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.  And in terms of over-subscribing, do I have the notion right that what would happen is the utility program managers might get commitments to meet, say, 110 percent or 120 percent of the targeted demand reduction through IRPAs to guard against the risk that not all of those would deliver?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And my understanding from reading through your report and what ConEd is doing is that sometimes described as a derating factor?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct.  The joint utilities have proposed the use of derating factors for both deliverability, reliability, and recontracting or renewal reliability.  And this is one way where they would adjust how best to get those commitments and addressing some of the risks of both traditional and non-traditional solutions.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Stephanie, can you just scroll down this page a little bit, please.  So looking at the fourth bullet on this page, you indicate there that evaluation and measurement and verification are the results from IRP initiatives is critical to understanding how they are achieving their intended purpose.

Would you agree with me that measurement and verification is easier and more accurate when automated metering infrastructure or AMI is installed, because that allows changes in peak demand to be measured and tracked?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't want to answer that categorically, but I will speak to Con Edison's experience on initial pilots in working with both customers that had AMI meters installed as well as customers who did not.  And as we know here is that there are some advantages of performing a gas demand response program with customers that have AMI.  It's not impossible to do it for customers that do not, but there are higher costs complexities associated with that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And I think you've telegraphed into my next question.  Is it fair to say, Mr. Young, that there could be cost savings when AMI is available, cost savings in terms of IRPA costs, because there is less need for over-subscription to ensure desired peak demand reductions are being achieved?

MR. YOUNG:  So we haven't looked deeply into the value of -- so quantifying the value of AMI related so IRP.  What we've -- the situation in New York was that the AMI -- the decision around AMI was done well before the development of the gas IRP pilots, so the rollout of the smart meters was already underway before any decision was made.

So it's -- we haven't conducted analysis or had those discussions specifically around whether there is a significant cost benefit for a situation where you are considering pursuing gas AMI in support of IRP.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  In concept, does it seem like a fair proposition that where AMI exists that there may be less need for derating factors or over-subscription?

MR. YOUNG:  It's a tough thing to answer without knowing, but conceptually, yes, but -- so there will definitely -- there will conceptually be benefits, but how that affects the overall costs of an AMI rollout or IRP, we can't speak to that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Next, Stephanie, can you please turn to page 5 of the PDF.  And I'm turning now to the recommendations that Mr. Moran just summarized for us, and I just want to talk to you about a couple of those.

The first thing that I want to discuss is your first recommendation.  And as we can see on the screen, Guidehouse recommends that the OEB should encourage the development of a comprehensive benefit-cost analysis handbook for gas IRP that evaluates infrastructure, supply-side, and demand-side solutions with a similar set of assumptions for costs and benefits.

Considering that recommendation, is it fair for me to interpret this as saying that more work needs to be done in Guidehouse's view before a complete evaluation process to compare facility and non-facility solutions can be approved by the OEB and implemented by Enbridge Gas?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that is our finding that more analysis needs to be done and how best to compare the wide variety of solutions that could be considered within IRP.

MR. STEVENS:  And would it be fair for me to read your report and your answers to undertakings, I suppose, or answers to interrogatories, rather, as indicating that this BCA handbook could be used within or as an input to the three stage EB-0134 analytical framework that Enbridge is proposing?

MR. YOUNG:  We've not been asked to provide specific recommendations on which tests to pursue, or some specifics within each test.  But I will say in general our finding is that the existing tests leave a lot of gaps and uncertainties about how they would be applied to IRP.  So our recommendation is that whatever pathway is chosen, whatever test method is -- should be supplemented with either a handbook or a supplemental guide to address some of those uncertainties and make sure everyone is aware of how the test would be applied.

MR. STEVENS:  So this is -- this is a step that would be taken whichever analytical framework or evaluation framework is used as sort of the overlay?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And Stephanie, can you please turn to page 13 of the compendium?  This is a response to an interrogatory from Enbridge Gas asking for a bit more detail about the recommendation for the content of the BCA handbook.

And in response, Guidehouse indicates that if the OEB determines a BCA handbook would be appropriate, then the content should be developed by the OEB with input from key stakeholders, and it may be appropriate to undertake some sort of OEB consultation to accomplish this.

Taking that into account, I just want to put to you a slightly different approach and seek your reactions to it.  What would be your reaction to a proposal from Enbridge Gas where it would work with the consultant to prepare a draft proposal for a BCA handbook, and then Enbridge Gas and all interested parties would engage in stakeholdering and adjudicative process to finalize the handbook meeting the spirit or intent of your recommendation?

MR. MORAN:  I think Guidehouse would suggest that that is another variant of a consultative approach providing something for all stakeholders to have an opportunity to react to.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Can we please turn back 
to -- I believe it is page 5 of the PDF, going back to the recommendations.  Sorry, it will be on the next page and I'm looking at recommendation number six.

Panel, as you can see here and as you'll recall, one of your recommendations is that the OEB should develop the gas IRP framework to provide utilities with sufficient flexibility to quickly adjust program designs, budgets, implementation plans and other processes to adapt the IRP programs to each solution.

Are you aware of Enbridge Gas's proposal that it would only seek OEB approval to adjust investments within an IRP plan if the associated cost was at least 25 percent of the cost of the approved IRPA?

MR. YOUNG:  So we have received, as an additional piece of the compendium last night, calling that out.  So we haven't discussed in any detail, but what I will say is in support of this recommendation in talking with ConEdison and National Grid is that what they found is when you're taking non-traditional approaches that don't have a lot of experience -- taking for instance the gas demand response pilot for CNA programs by ConEdison, is it was a three-year pilot, and after each year they had to -- were approved for the full three-year budget, but after each year they had to make significant changes because what they found is that the incentive approach or how they were marketing to customers or enrolling had a lot of -- needed a lot of refinement.

So what their recommendation has been is that being provided flexibility, whether it's to shift incentive levels or funding with different -- within different kind of programs and approaches, what is key to achieving successes.

To the question about at what point the -- let's say the utility needs to go to its regulator for decisions, it is our understanding in New York State that the utility is approved under a budget and then the programs within are allowed to be shifted around.

To the question around if the utility's budget in New York State exceed that, at what point do they have to go back to the regulator.  We have not reviewed that and I do not have that offhand.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that.  And I don't know if you can answer this or not, but from your perspective, just with a high level description of what Enbridge is proposing, is that consistent with your recommendation?  Are you comfortable with what Enbridge is proposing in terms of some degree of flexibility without having to return to the regulator?

MR. YOUNG:  We would agree with providing flexibility and leave it to the OEB Board about what is the appropriate level of flexibility.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I now have a few more general questions to ask.

Your report, based on what you were asked to do, of course is based on -- or focused mostly on IRP developments in New York State.  Are you aware, or is the panel aware of IRP gas IRP or non-pipeline alternative developments in jurisdictions other than New York State?

MR. YOUNG:  I can take this one.  So we are generally aware of others begun across North America.  We have not performed a thorough scan of jurisdictions outside of New York State, but we know some are going on and are really in the pilot phase.  I know some in California, Massachusetts, and other regions.

MR. STEVENS:   Thank you for that.  Based on your high-level review, would you agree with ICFs report and testimony that there's limited natural gas IRPA/NPA activity and limited regulator guidance on IRPA outside of New York State?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct, and I would say that even within New York State the topic is evolving and under development.

MR. STEVENS:  Do you have a view as to why there is so little activity on gas IRP or non-pipeline alternatives in North America?

MR. YOUNG:  I would ask if the other panelists have thoughts. Otherwise, I can respond.

MR. MORAN:  I'll go first, Jim, have you come in.  One, of the key drivers for gas IRP are multifold, and one of them is to explore opportunities to be more energy-efficient, perhaps, is one way of saying that, or exploring ways to lower overall carbon footprint.  That is relatively new and an emerging topic in terms of how the energy delivery systems can work towards not just providing electricity or natural gas but also achieve sustainability goals.  And so I think what we're seeing is the beginnings of this.  But that explains why there is not a lot of historical precedent for the jurisdictions very active in this area currently.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Now, with apologies in advance, I want to turn to something that was brought to my attention this morning and is not included in our compendium.  Are you aware of a grid report by Guidehouse for Fortis B.C. called "Pathways for British Columbia to Achieve GHG Reduction Goals"?  


MR. MORAN:  Yes, the team is aware of this.  The team is not familiar with the work. 


MR. STEVENS:  I assume from that answer that none of the three of you were involved in this report?


MR. MORAN:  To be more clear, that is correct.  None of us were involved in that work. 


MR. STEVENS:  Again, and I'm not asking you to guess at anything, but are any of you able to speak to why this report was prepared or what it was aimed at?  


MR. NEWBERGER:  I am not.  


MR. MORAN:  I don't think I can.  I'll say that it's my understanding, subject to verification, that Fortis B.C. engaged Guidehouse to help explore strategy that could help Fortis lower its carbon footprint, but I don't have the -- I know the report was done, that the work was done, but I'm not familiar with the nature of the act, you know, the nature of the scope of work, or the nature of the contents of our deliverable.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.  I completely understand.  I provided this to you at the very last moment, so that's very understandable.  So again, I take it from that that none of you would be comfortable speaking to the conclusions in the report.

MR. MORAN:  I believe that's the case.  If there's an undertaking that needs to occur, happy to talk about that, but --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm not hearing every word you're saying, Mr. Moran.  Could you say that again?

MR. MORAN:  Yeah.  Just unfortunately we're not -- we don't have -- the team today does not have a depth of experience with that report to be able to speak to it or its conclusions.

MR. STEVENS:  I did notice in my last-minute preparation that Mr. Grant, who is part of your larger team, seems to have been involved in it, but to be fair, I didn't see any of the three of you mention it on your CVs.  You mentioned, Mr. Moran, that you might be able to do something by way of undertaking, and I'll address this to Mr. Millar, whether Guidehouse would be prepared to provide an undertaking to provide a copy of the indicated report and just a paragraph or two describing the conclusions in it.

MR. MILLAR:  If that's helpful for -- yes, sorry --


MR. MORAN:  Should Mr. Millar deem it necessary, we'll do it --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, can I get that again?  There was overtalking.

MR. MORAN:  Should it be deemed necessary or required, Guidehouse is happy to provide a summary, a paragraph or two summarizing the nature of the engagement and any conclusions.  I want to caveat that that I am not aware that the report is in the public domain, so --


MR. STEVENS:  I apologize for interrupting, Mr. Moran.  I only became aware of it when I was referred to the Fortis B.C. website, where it is linked.

MR. MORAN:  I think -- yeah, there's --


MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Stevens --


MR. MORAN:  Go ahead, please.

MR. MILLAR:  It's Michael Millar here.  Just to keep this moving, I think the undertaking you've asked is for us to file the report.  What was the add-on that you wanted to that?

MR. STEVENS:  I thought it might be helpful just to have a couple paragraphs describing the findings of the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, just to keep this moving I think we're happy do that, so why don't we call that J4.1.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1A:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REPORT ENTITLED "PATHWAYS FOR BRITISH COLUMBIA TO ACHIEVE GHG REDUCTION GOALS" WITH A DESCRIPTION OF ITS CONCLUSIONS.

MR. MONDROW:  Excuse me if I could interrupt, Mr. Stevens, Madam Chair.  You can hear me?  It's Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  And I hesitate to interrupt, but I realize that OEB counsel has addressed this matter, but this is a report that was provided this morning.  Mr. Stevens indicated in his email there was some discussion with parties on Zoom.  I was not involved in those discussions.  I don't know what's in it.  It's now to be put on the record with some sort of paragraph summarizing the scope of engagement, which is presumably included in the report itself.

And I'm not sure what parties or the Board are supposed to make of this now.  Does it become a piece of evidence?  Is it to be addressed by Enbridge in argument?  No one has had a chance to see it.  The witnesses can't speak to it.  It seems a bit provisional to me, and I'm really a little bit concerned that the kind of conventions for evidence and testimony are being, without being pejorative or critical of Mr. Stevens necessarily, because I don't quite understand, but being ignored.

I'm not sure the basis upon which this report is going to be helpful to anybody at this point.  Maybe Mr. Stevens can address Enbridge's intention in respect of the report.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  As I indicated, I apologize for bringing this up at the last moment.  It would have been included in our compendium had it been brought to our attention sooner.  We're just looking to have a complete record, in terms of things that may be helpful to the Board to consider.  

I mean, at various times parties have attached a number of different reports and items to their compendia or to interrogatories that they have answered.  I note that Mr. Neme provided quite a range of information about pilot projects.  I know that Board Staff included the New York Public Service Commission's report and recommendations on gas IRP within their compendium.  It might be the parties refer to these various things at some point in their argument.  I can't imagine that they will become a focal point of the argument, but in the interests of having a comprehensive record as to how gas IRP and sort of the future of gas utilities is being dealt with, I think it would be helpful to include on the record.

MR. BROPHY:  It's Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  If I can just maybe add a few comments as well.  Is that okay, Ian?  I --


MR. MONDROW:  If I could just finish, Michael, with Madam Chair's permission, and then obviously if you have something to add.  But just in response to Mr. Stevens, Madam Chair -- and again, I haven't looked at this report, and so maybe the Panel determines to let it in, but I would like to put some caveats on the record, and in respect of the New York Public Service Commission staff's proposal.  The work of the New York Public Service Commission in respect of IRP has been an issue throughout this proceeding and has been addressed by experts, so there is some context around that, and it is in fact a Staff proposal.

In respect of Mr. Neme's information on pilot projects, that was specifically requested by the Board Panel, as I recall, during the presentation day, and so there was some discussion about that, at least some context about it, and how the panel thought that those summaries might be of assistance.

And Mr. Stevens is quite correct.  Parties habitually put materials on the record, and, you know, it's not my job to chime in every time a party does that, but I happen to be here, I happen to be interested in this proceeding on behalf of IGUA, and Enbridge has done this but has not asked any questions of the witnesses, in fairness to Mr. Stevens, because he had the courtesy of first determining whether the witnesses could speak to the document.

But given that they can't, and none of them have been involved in production of the document, and we have no other context for the document, we can go around the world collecting IRP-related documents and dump them all on the record, but how that respects the hearing process is a bit of a puzzle to me, quite frankly, Madam Chair.  


So I just want to put that on the record.  I mean, for all I know this document might be supportive of IGUA's position; I just don't know that.  But I'm quite concerned that we're now injecting material that no one can speak to, no one's asked for, and there's no context around it, and no one knows what's in it except for perhaps Mr. Stevens and whoever provided him with the report.  

So I'm a bit concerned with the notion that this is now to be used by parties in argument, particularly where there are a number of intervenors with different interests and there is no process for intervenors to argue against each other, respond to points, raise points.  And this is, you know, kind of half an Enbridge proposal, half a Board-initiated process, and it's becoming a bit of an evidentiary free-for-all.

So I just want to register those concerns.  Obviously the matter is in the Panel's hand.  Thanks for your indulgence.  I appreciate it.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brophy, you had something to add?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, if I may.  So I think Mr. Mondrow, you know, covered it fairly well.  We did raise this yesterday, and I agree that the ICF updates were different than the requests for Mr. Stevens today, because ICF, you know, truly made some mistakes in their report and needed to just clarify the record.  It wasn't new evidence.  You know, we talked about that.  


And there is a lot of materials that are available that haven't been put on the record yet, and we identified yesterday that we didn't think it was fair to dump those on the record this late in the day.

So I have that same concern that Mr. Mondrow has stated, and the panel has indicated that this may not even be a public report.  You know, it seems like Enbridge may have gotten a copy somehow this morning or last night, but, you know, they haven't been able to confirm their contractual agreement with the company, whether they're even legally allowed to share the document.  So there's a lot of those questions.  


Plus I question the value of adding something like that this late on the record without allowing other parties to do the same, which would be a bit of a free-for-all, to use Mr. Mondrow's words.  So we do have concern with that.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, if I may very briefly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, who's speaking, please?

MR. POCH:  Mr. Poch.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  It's David Poch.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just, I support Mr. Mondrow's submission, and I just wanted to add, there is an important distinction here.  For example, Mr. Stevens referenced Mr. Neme filing information.  Those reports were mentioned -- were listed in his report, and then it was a request of the -- by the Board to actually file them.

There's a big difference when a document is sought -- put forward for comment in cross where the witness is knowledgeable and has an opportunity to respond to it or where the witness has referenced something and there's an undertaking -- it's provided at the request of the Board or the cross-examining parties as opposed to this where these witnesses have no knowledge of the document, and will never have an opportunity to follow up.

So I think that's a very important difference as Mr. Mondrow has pointed out, and I support his submissions. Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stevens, do you have any follow-up?

MS. DeMARCO:  If I could, Madam Chair?  It's Lisa DeMarco.  In relation to the discussion I had with Mr. Stevens around the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, he was quite adamant that despite the fact that was referenced in a policy that Enbridge was relying upon, it shouldn't go in per se as something to be put to the witnesses.

So I think we need some consistency in this regard, number one.  And number two, should it go in without the full breadth of the protections that Mr. Mondrow has highlighted, you might want to consider the weight of it very carefully.

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, I would be interested to hear whether or not Mr. Stevens' filing of the report was intended to question recommendations of these individuals that are qualified as experts where they made different or alternative recommendations in another report, in another circumstances.

It is fairly standard to question experts in that manner in cross-examination, and I would be interested to hear from Mr. Stevens about this.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stevens, perhaps you can share what is your intended use of the document?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I appreciate the question from Mr. Vellone.  It certainly wasn't our intention to use this in any way to question the witness's current recommendations.

Enbridge was simply seeking to include what appears to be a document we think would be interesting and useful for the Panel in its considerations of many of the issues that have been discussed over the previous days.  I completely agree with the comments that Ms. DeMarco made, that the Board would of course make its own determination as to any weight to be afforded to this document, should any party choose to refer to it or rely on it.

Beyond that, I think I would be repeating myself.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Clearly we're always interested in good information.  We can always apply weight to it, so those are considerations.  I haven't heard the argument, but I think it best that I confer with my fellow commissioners over the break, and come back with whether or not we see the value in the document being filed.

We always like the most up-to-date information, but the consideration of what weight we can put to it will be what we will consider.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, one final point from Staff.
I agreed to file this because I thought it would make things go more quickly.  The Guidehouse witnesses would not be adopting this as their evidence.  It seems to be a contextual document, which are routinely filed as part of compendia.  In that context, we didn't see a lot of harm putting it in.

Of course, we're in the Board's hands.  But I did want to be clear that this would not be something adopted by these witnesses.

MS. ANDERSON:  We will not take an undertaking, but we have these witnesses after the morning break, so we'll come back with that.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if the Board is inclined to somehow receive this document, I would strongly urge it not be subject to an undertaking for information subsequently to be put on the record, which no one will have a chance to inquire about of these witnesses.

If Mr. Stevens or his client wish to file the document and refer to it in their submissions, and the Board finds that would be helpful, I'm a little bit less perturbed by that notion than somehow getting an undertaking addressing something about this report, which the witnesses can't speak to firsthand and which Mr. Stevens hasn't put to them during his examination.

So the report, if it's to be accepted, should simply be accepted on that basis, without being given any cloak of evidence through an undertaking response or anything else of that nature.  That would be my request of the panel for consideration.  Thank you very much and I'm sorry for interrupting.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  We did hear from the witnesses that they couldn't speak to this report, so we will take that under advisement.

MR. BROPHY:  I support what Mr. Mondrow said.  That's probably more efficient if the Board were to choose that it should be made available, if Mr. Stevens has confirmed it's already available to them through some public channel, we don't know if Guidehouse legally through their contract.

It may be better if Mr. Stevens were to file it directly, and refer to it in his argument.  I think we support that certainly over additional costs from Guidehouse and work that would flow.  It might be more efficient if that was the choice the Panel decided.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I guess I don't think we need to hear from every party on this.  We hear what the issues are, and we will get back to you after the break. But we would like to proceed with Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Just to make sure the record is clear, the report is indeed a public document.  I found it on the Fortis B.C. website.

My final questions are in relation to page 18 of our compendium.  This is the Ontario Energy Board Act, section 2.  And it is -- if you can scroll down a little bit, Stephanie, thank you.

These are the objectives the Board is to be guided by in carrying out its responsibilities under the act in relation to gas.

I guess my first question to the panel, recognizing that the two folks that were part of your team from Ontario aren't on the witness panel right now.  Can you let me know whether you're aware of these statutory objectives as you prepared your report?

MR. YOUNG:  No, we were not.

MR. STEVENS:  Do you know whether any member of your team, as you were preparing your report, took these into account?  I'm speaking specifically about Mr. Grant and Ms. Simon.

MR. MORAN:  Yes.  We have members of our group who engaged with members of the team that have paid for this report, the subject matter expertise in Ontario and other areas of the province.

MR. STEVENS:  Just at a high level, would you agree with me that it's important for the Board's framework to take account of and pay attention to these objectives?

MR. MORAN:  Absolutely.  Our recommendation four says the gas IRP framework should be consistent and align with Ontario policy goals.  And recommendation three is that the gas IRP framework should be consistent with the regulatory framework for natural gas infrastructure approvals, and the answer to your direct question is yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And so is there anywhere in your report where your recommendations or your best practices speak specifically to this notion of protecting the interests of consumers with respect to prices and reliability and quality of gas service?

MR. MORAN:  Actually, the number one reason why our recommendation is centered around moving forward in some type of consultative process the interests of all stakeholders can be identified and discussed, and that recommendation -- the outcomes of recommendations can be seen through the lens of all the stakeholders who will be potentially impacted, including gas utilities, the objectives of the Ontario Energy Board on behalf of its citizens, ratepayers, gas customers and others.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I won't go through each of these, but I'm curious if you have any reaction to how your report recognizes the objection -- excuse me, the objective of facilitating the maintenance of a financially viable gas Industry.

MR. MORAN:  Absolutely.  Just to underscore the point, it is absolutely crucial to engage in a consultative process as we sync it up to regulatory paradigms that will continue to advance on all six of these objectives of the Ontario Energy Board.

Gas IRP is a relatively new concept.  It offers a lot of promise.  But we want to -- our recommendation is around taking the time to think through how to properly construct the gas IRP process in advance of the [audio dropout] of these objectives.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  And thank you, Panel.  Those are all my questions.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry to interrupt, but before we continue, could we get Mr. Moran to change his microphone or something?  I'm still having difficulty hearing every single word he's saying.

MS. ANDERSON:  I did find when you held it up, Mr. Moran, that it did seem quite clear to me, so I don't know whether that is a possibility.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  When I hold it right now am I coming across more clearly?

MS. ANDERSON:  To me you are.  How about our court reporter?

THE REPORTER:  Yes, you are.  Still not as clear as others, though, Mr. Moran, but if I could get you to do that, and perhaps just speak more succinctly, enunciate your words a little more --


MR. MORAN:  Yeah.

THE REPORTER:  -- so I can hear every single word you're saying at the time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. MORAN:  I will endeavour to do so.  Thank you.  I apologize.

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.  Sorry for interrupting.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Brophy.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Panel, and good morning, Guidehouse panel.  What I thought, I might start with a quick question about what Mr. Stevens has just asked you about just before I jump into my other questions so it's fresh.

He had put up some of the OEB responsibilities, and you had referred back to the report about, you know, those being consistent with one of your recommendations about considering policies in Ontario, which, you know, we would agree with.

So my understanding, your recommendation in considering policies in Ontario is -- you know, would be quite a challenge to list every single one, and it would be a much longer report if you were to try and line every single policy out there, so I think you had suggested that the document that Mr. Stevens projected is consistent, but I just want to validate that when you refer to policies in Ontario it's a much broader reference, so it would include other policies in Ontario as well, things like their support of community and energy emissions planning, but you -- it would be a long list if we tried to cover this.  Is that fair to say that's accurate?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, let me just try to be more clear.  The --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, can you say that again?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, let me just try to be more clear around what we mean in terms of alignment with Ontario policy goals.  As I recall, the gas supply planning framework in Ontario has three objectives.  I believe those to be cost-effectiveness, security and reliability of supply, and the third one is alignment with Ontario policy objectives or something to that effect.  And all I'm trying -- all we're trying to suggest as a recommendation to the OEB is that that continue in the context of gas IRP.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you for that.  So just before I get into my questions, I had a quick question maybe to help clarify.  The list I had for panel 5 had four witnesses, the three that we have here, plus I had Judy Simon listed, which, she's not here, so I had some questions on my list that relate to some Ontario elements that Ms. Simon would probably know more than the panel, particularly as they relate to best practices that developed, say, from EB-0169 that was mentioned in the report, that kind of thing.

So I just wanted to gauge how familiar the panel is with that without Ms. Simon being here, and then what I can do is I'll try and adjust accordingly to that level.  It doesn't make sense for me to ask questions that the panel is not going to know the answers to, even if it was in the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Brophy, it's Michael Millar.  I'm happy to let the panel answer this question, but just, yes, we did originally have Ms. Simon on the panel.  Frankly, we made the panel a bit smaller pause we found at the tech conference that it was just a bit too big and people were stepping on each other's toes and whatnot, and it just, it didn't seem to be an efficient way to go forward.

So what I would suggest is, by all means don't alter your questions, and if for some reason there is a response that these panel members can't provide and that Ms. Simon could have, we would be happy to take an undertaking in that respect, but I don't want to limit your questions because we changed the composition of the panel.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.  Anything else from the panel?  And then I'll just jump in if that's okay.  Okay.  Perfect.

So I think we've learned, you know, from the report and the technical conference and even today that Guidehouse has some great knowledge and expertise related to IRP in North America.  I don't know if you've been following the full proceeding, but we had a discussion yesterday with ICF around some perceptions around their report, that maybe it was suggesting that there was limited knowledge about best practices or other things going on in North America for IRP, whether it's, you know, gas specifically or maybe electric that could be, you know, used for gas, and the IESO, you know, example comes to mind as one of those.

So during that discussion we built a bit of a list between gas and electric IRP frameworks and best practices in Canada, plus ICF was familiar with 11 utilities in New York that they said, you know, many of them would be using IRP, or trying to apply it, anyways, so we ended up with a list, and where we landed is that it was clearly in North America over a dozen utilities in jurisdictions that were applying IRP to gas and electricity where, you know, we could leverage best practices and information.

So I know Guidehouse probably deals with a lot of those utilities and jurisdictions as well, and I think it came up in Mr. Stevens' question as well a bit earlier, that you're familiar with a lot of other jurisdictions.  I was going to ask you, are there other ones beyond kind of the Canadian ones and the New York ones that we should be adding to that list and trying to get a sense on how much greater than the kind of the dozen or more number we would be talking about?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  So our ask was specifically looking at the gas IRP situation and specifically for New York State, so as part of a previous response to Enbridge.  We are generally aware of other pilots, but we don't have such a list of gas IRP of what would be specific.  The New York State situation I would say is furthest along, and -- or along the process, but we're aware that there are other pilots ongoing on some early discussions around IRP, but, yeah, the New York situation -- and including within our report we focus on Con Edison and the National Grid, but there are other utilities that have IRP type solutions and pilots underway in New York State in addition.

So that's for the gas.  For the electric side, yeah, it was not within our scope to do a deep review of electric IRP or non-wires association -- or non-wires alternatives, which utilities are pursuing pilots or programs.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, I believe Guidehouse was one of the parties that had identified some of the best practices that are being done by IESO even in Ontario, so on the electricity side, and suggesting that those would be relevant, so they wouldn't have to just -- gas utility per se.  And through this proceeding, actually, Enbridge has adopted at least one or maybe more of those best practices now from IESO as part of their stakeholdering at a more granular level I think they were suggesting regionally.

So I think I know the answer, but I just thought I would confirm with you, even the information and best practices that come from outside the gas realm appear to be very helpful.  Would you agree that many of those could be leveraged for what we're talking about for Enbridge?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Generally speaking, the answer is yes.  If there are lessons to be learned for gas IRP from electric non-wires alternatives and how those are considered, how the utility is compensated for the risks, how do they suit the needs of the commission from a public-policy perspective, as well as meet the traditional requirements of electricity supply planning in terms of security of supply, cost-effectiveness, those types of matters, if there are lessons to be learned that potentially could help Ontario advance, then we would recommend taking a look at those.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  I will go into questions that relate to the parallels of EB-0169 and DSM as you had mentioned that in the report, and you can tell me if you're able to answer that, or if it's Ms. Simon that would have to answer that later.

But I'm assuming you're familiar with EB-0169 and the DSM framework in Ontario that stemmed from that?

MR. YOUNG:  Our panel here, I would say, is aware of the general provisions of what is included within that.  But I would say deep knowledge of the specifics, we would have to take as an undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  When I reflect that as a parallel to where we're at in IRP, I think the OEB had done a very good job in setting the rules in EB-0169 as a foundation that allowed DSM to grow over the last 30 years, and it's still referenced and used today.

So the question -- and you can take it away if you have to -- is are there other lessons from that example that would help form implementing an effective IRP framework for Ontario, and specifically, there's things like the consultative that was set up to ensure stakeholder input on a regular basis.

The OEB also has a committee they set up, I believe it's called the evaluation committee that they run to provide oversight and include best practices.  But I would be interested because those parallels are there on things we talked about in IRP, so wondering if you'd be willing do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Brophy, I'm a little concerned about the breadth of that undertaking.  If I understand it, you're asking the witnesses to inform themselves on the DSM, the entire DSM framework, and then cross-reference that to ideas amongst IRP.

I heard you ask more specific question around stakeholdering and indeed I asked some questions around that.

I expect these witnesses could answer a question like that right now, but I'm reluctant to give an open-ended undertaking to go and look at DSM and see with a ideas might also work IRP.

My suggestion would be to try some specific questions, which I expect these witnesses could help you with.  Again, I am always in the Board Panel's hands, but I'm reluctant to take on a broad undertaking like that.

MR. BROPHY:  Why don't I try that, and maybe we can avoid an undertaking, if possible.

As I mentioned, when I look at the parallel of EB 0169 as mentioned in the report, I keep landing on that it was addressing a way to ensure effective transparency stakeholder engagement and regulatory oversight for something that was very new at the time.  You know, that was back in the '90s very similar to where we are today on IRP, where there's a lot of unknowns, and it's new to the utilities struggling to put in those processes, that kind of thing.

I guess I'll mention two specific tools that were used for the stakeholdering.  One was from the Board perspective, where they now have a committee.  I think that kind of tool was used a lot more frequently back at the early days than it is now, to look at evaluation of the framework and it included stakeholders and informed what changes would have to happen.

So would you agree that kind of an approach led by the OEB would be helpful in IRP as well?

MR. YOUNG:  Are you asking the question about whether or not that specific committee, and how it's constructed and designed, would be appropriate for this natural gas IRP?

MR. BROPHY:  It would have a different charter or scope at a detail level.  But generally speaking, the concept of what the Board's using to help guide DSM through the OEB committee, do you see that as a valuable parallel for IRP as well?

MR. YOUNG:  In our report, we described how the experience in New York State and Ontario of having a stakeholder process has been valuable throughout DSM and infrastructure-related proceedings, and our recommendation is having a stakeholder engagement process is important.  We haven't commented on the specific design of how that stakeholder process might be.

If the Board finds it appropriate for what was done for DSM might be applicable here, it could be a good solution. But we haven't made that specific recommendation of how that stakeholder should go.

MR. BROPHY:  For clarity, there's two components for DSM.  The OEB has their committee and in the early days the utility itself would have what was called a consultative. I'm not sure you use that term in the U.S. or not, but it's quite often used by the utility to bring stakeholders together on a regular basis to give them real time and direct feedback, in addition to any committee the regulator might have.

Are you familiar with those two types of processes being used in parallel?

MR. YOUNG:  Paul, would you be the best one to speak to that?

MR. MORAN:  I don't think we can speak to that directly, Mr. Brophy.  I don't think this panel has direct knowledge of the inner workings of 169 and how different consultative practices or stakeholder engagements are -- what the mechanics are.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Millar, maybe we can zero-in the undertaking on that specific question then, and it should be fairly easy for the folks that didn't make it on the panel today to answer that.

MR. MILLAR:  We certainly want to be helpful, Mr. Brophy.  But I'm still -- we know what the current stakeholdering framework is in DSM.  I'm not sure why you can't put what that is to these witnesses and ask them if this is something they would endorse.

They've already spoken broadly to the importance of stakeholdering, and we know what that process is in DSM.  I'm not sure what the undertaking is.

Can you just put to them: this is how they do it on DSM.  Do you like this idea?

MR. BROPHY:  I did explain that it's a two-stage process on DSM.  One is the OEB itself has a committee, and then also the utility itself ran consultatives to get direct feedback, so that's two stages where you have the Board focus committee and the utility focus committee.

So I believe that is the question I asked, and they indicated they are not familiar with how that works.  So I believe I'm kind of stuck if they're unable to answer that.

MR.. NEWBERGER:  If you're asking specifically about 

-- excuse me, this is Jeremy Newberger.  If you're asking specifically about its working in Ontario, I think then that would be the necessity to take an undertaking, because the three of us are not intimately familiar with that.  If you're talking about -- are you asking, though, in general about that kind of process?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I guess, you know, it is specific to Ontario in that it worked very well for DSM, is the parallel.  You know, if you feel comfortable answering more generally based on your knowledge of that process in Ontario, we may be able to go with that, but certainly if there was somebody that knew the Ontario jurisdiction and how well that worked, that would certainly provide better insight.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say "how well", I guess I'm not sure what you mean.  You want a witness who can speak to how well that worked in Ontario.  That's a judgment call and subjective to some extent.  Again, I have no objection whatsoever to the witnesses answering specific questions about, here's some ideas for stakeholdering, that it worked in other contexts, what do you think of this, and I think we have some answers to that already.  I don't know that any other Guidehouse people will have a more complete view around that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So based on that two-stage process of -- use the one -- utility get direct feedback on when the -- the regulator level, do you think that that type of approach is appropriate and would work for IRP?

MR. MORAN:  It's hard to tell.  I think from what I'm hearing that the two-stage consultative process for EB-0169 was designed to enlist stakeholder awareness of how DSM works and -- you know, because it was a new concept.  If that's correct, I don't think that stakeholdering needs to be determined, if that is necessary.  

I think DSM is known as a viable tool, as a component of energy efficiency.  What remains to be determined is how to best evaluate the merits of a DSM opportunity relative to the needs of the utility to serve its customers.  And so there's a host of other factors that I think of.  Probably the stakeholdering is more at between the gas utility and the OEB than with -- but it depends on, I think, on the problem or the issue that's seeking to be resolved in how the stakeholdering could incorporate the perspectives of those stakeholders.  So I'm not -- that's what we're seeking on that.

MR. NEWBERGER:  And I'll add that I think it depends 

-- just like what Paul said, it depends on the technical elements that you would like to involve the stakeholders in.  As Paul mentioned, there is generally a lot of familiarity with energy efficiency dimensions.  You would have to see if you were going to propose that second stakeholder approach with collaborative or consultative process that's run by the utility, they'd have to make sure that that they can recruit interest in people outside the utility in what could be some very technical aspects related to gas supply, gas engineering, gas control, and the like.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, and back, you know, when DSM started in the '90s, similar experience, where it was guidance from elsewhere in North America that was leveraged because it didn't exist in Ontario, so a very similar process where, you know, it was new, where today we know a lot more about energy efficiency than we did in the early '90s, so that's -- at least in Ontario.  Maybe not elsewhere in North America.

Okay.  Thank you.  So I'm just going to stick on the stakeholdering theme for a minute, and you went through some of your recommendations on, I think it was page 4 of your report that Guidehouse had made, and in one of those you were talking about stakeholder input into development of guides and handbooks and indicated that stakeholders provided or can provide comments on the proposed D.C. handbook or supplemental guide, whatever the Board decides, and build an understanding of the cost, benefits, and risks for different IRP options and allow for a more transparent IRP process.  So it's talking about the process to engage stakeholders into that development process.

So maybe you can just share a bit more detail on how you would see the stakeholder review of those kind of draft materials, what -- you know, who would do it, you know, when it would happen, kind of frequency, how would you see that playing out?

MR. MORAN:  Multiple --


MR. YOUNG:  So -- go ahead, Paul.

MR. MORAN:  There's multiple pathways to do this.  One could be that the gas utility puts forth a proposal and there's a consultative process by which stakeholders can provide comments, not unlike the process that we're undergoing right now.  There could be an alternative where all the stakeholders come together and try to develop this, you know, over the table.  That's another pathway.  We don't have specific recommendations, necessarily, on what the right necessarily set of steps are, as much as I want to emphasize that the viewpoints of all stakeholders need to be incorporated.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Brophy, I just want to remind you that you have got five minutes left in your time.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  That's perfect, thank you.  I had some other stakeholdering questions, but I don't want to be repetitive.

There was a discussion earlier this morning around AMI at a customer site, and I recall you said that you can do IRP whether you have AMI or not, and there were some pros and cons to that.  So I just wanted to get a better understanding.

The proposal put forward by Enbridge would only include at least initially IRP alternatives that are 10 million dollars or greater, so we're not talking about projects that are smaller than that, so that's, you know, a fairly high threshold to start with.

Wouldn't automated metering, say a gate station or a district station, be able to pick up demand for that size of project?  I'm trying to understand why you'd need to put AMI at every person's house, because, you know, if you're doing a project that's over 10 million dollars, you probably wouldn't need that level of granularity to understand what the demand was for that neighbourhood.

Can you help me understand that a bit?

MR. YOUNG:  I can take this one.  So our analysis was really not looking into the need for AMI, the value of AMI [audio dropout] different point at different stations -- or, sorry, different levels of the gas system.  So we won't be able to speak to that directly.

What we provided with our report is the experience of performing a natural gas AMI response program in kind of the in-service territory for CNI customers.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So does it seem logical to you if you could monitor demand at a district or gate station effectively and avoid spending additional capital on meters for all the customers there?  Would that seem to be a more cost-effective approach, or is there -- am I missing something?

MR. MORAN:  I'll tell you that you need to understand, you know, to balance the gas system, is you need to understand where the demand is and what the load profile or demand profile is of that customer premise.  You also need to understand the required pressure support beyond the distribution to the city gates, but into the distribution system to understand balancing customer load currently, anticipated customer load in the next hour and the hour after that, so that the proper level of pressure can be provided across the system to enable delivery of supply.

So with the right location relative to understand put down some kind of data acquisition and communication channel to understand all those dimensions.  Is that at the city gates or at the customer premise?   I can't -- I'm not able to make an opinion on that, but just want to share with you that a host of multiple technical factors that go into understanding load profile and demand and supply to balance the system to enable the IRP.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I'm going to end there.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  So we are going to take the morning break.  So let's come back at 11:20.
--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  We're back.

I just want to follow up on the request for the undertaking with Guidehouse, and the Panel has discussed and reached a conclusion.

The OEB will allow Enbridge to amend its compendium to include the Guidehouse report prepared for Fortis.  The weight that the OEB may assign to this document will be considered with reference to the circumstances of its introduction.  This would include the limitations on the Guidehouse witnesses to respond to questions concerning the report's relevance to the determination of issues engaged by this proceeding.

Okay.  With that we would like to proceed with Mr. Poch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Witnesses, I represent Green Energy Coalition.  First of all, a general question.  In your capacity as experts in the field, not just related to the research you've done on this project, but in your broader experience, are you familiar with cost-effectiveness tests used for non-wire solutions in any jurisdictions?  Non-wires?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I am.  This is Jeremy Newberger.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can you just tell us what jurisdictions and what tests were used?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I'm familiar with the Rhode Island -- what was done in Rhode island, and the test that was used for the non-wires projects for Little Compton in Rhode Island was kind of a hybrid test.  The energy efficiency component was used -- was assessed -- or the cost-effectiveness of the energy efficiency component was assessed using the same test that was used for energy efficiency, which, as I stated during the technical session, was a TRC test that was used for Rhode Island at the time.  Rhode island has since moved to a jurisdictional test called the Rhode Island test for energy efficiency.

And then for the avoided interest structure component it was a novel test that was used so that -- to develop an estimate of the avoided infrastructure cost in terms of avoided revenue requirements.

MR. POCH:  And that's the extent of your familiarity of tests used in other jurisdictions for non-wires?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I would say that's the jurisdiction I'm most familiar with.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And are you familiar with any jurisdiction or are any of the panel members familiar with any jurisdiction that uses as a primary test the DCF test in the way that Enbridge is proposing, for non-wires or non-pipe solutions?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I'm not familiar with that application.

MR. POCH:  I'll take that -- silence I'll take as a no, thank you.  All right.  Moving on then, I have some questions prompted by the New York State staff report that just recently came out, and Board Staff were kind enough to include it in their compendium at tab 19.  Are you gentlemen at least generally familiar with that report?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we have -- we have read the report.  We have not done extensive comparison at this point, but we have reviewed it.

MR. POCH:  I'll take that -- let's ask a few questions, and I appreciate that you haven't had a lot of time to read through this document.

First of all, if you could turn to page 22 of that report, and if you scroll down, there's a list of primary benefit categories and cost -- there we are, thank you.

Can you confirm for me that there are no increases or decreases in revenues in this list; is that correct?

MR. NEWBERGER:  You mean revenues to the utility?

MR. POCH:  Correct.

MR. NEWBERGER:  That's correct.  It doesn't -- in this list that you're showing it does not seem to be mentioned.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And that's the -- that's the primary -- it's referred to just above as the -- in the BCA handbook as the primary non-pipe alternative related benefit and cost categories, and I take it that's in contrast to what Enbridge is proposing as its stage 1 test, correct?

MR. YOUNG:  So within -- pull up exactly our response -- but in the last undertaking -- I don't know if I have the number right in front of me, but within our last undertaking from the technical conference we were asked to provide a comparison and contrast for the non-pipes alternative framework that was put forward by Con Edison, as well as those that are within Ontario for DSM and infrastructure, and so we did do a compare and contrast of which costs and benefit categories are included.

MR. POCH:  All right.  But the short answer to my question, though, is Enbridge includes revenues in its DCF, and this one doesn't; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  I'm looking back to confirm.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I think the record is quite clear on that, so I won't ask you to take the time to do that.  You can take it subject to check.

Taking that as a given, that Enbridge includes revenues to the utility in its stage 1, would you agree that the -- if you add the three stages of Enbridge's proposed three-stage test together, one would not get a test equivalent to this New York primary societal cost test, because revenue impacts are included in the Enbridge -- in any stage of the Enbridge analysis?

MR. YOUNG:  We have described that there are significant differences of the cost-benefit categories, and so within our undertaking we have laid those out.  I think also within our undertaking we point out how there are plenty -- there are several areas within the DCF analysis that are uncertain, so that's our key finding, is that there's a lot of uncertainty about how it would be applied and how it might compare.

So categorically I don't think we can say, but there are uncertainties in a comparison of tests.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I'll leave it there.

Further down on that page I note that -- just immediately under that paragraph it says:

"The BCA handbooks describe sensitivity analyses to key assumptions."

Would you say that's a distinction between the New York approach and what Enbridge is proposing, with the exception that they have now agreed that they would do a sensitivity analysis for 170 dollar per tonne carbon?

MR. YOUNG:  So within the handbooks the sensitivity analysis is done for a lot of different pieces, and we generally find that this is best practice, particularly in dealing with IRP solutions or pilots in many cases where the proper rate -- derating factors are still under development.

So in general we believe that sensitivity analysis for key assumptions is a good approach.

MR. POCH:  And further, they -- at the very bottom of page 22 and going over to page 23 it says that one sensitivity analysis should be to depreciate fully by 2050 facilities.  Do you know why that recommendation is included in the New York staff report?

MR. YOUNG:  I believe elsewhere in the staff report, and this gets to -- I can't find the page, but when dealing with the potential test around greenhouse gas emissions is around.  So as stated previously, New York State has aggressive 85 percent greenhouse gas reductions by 2050.  Part of this planning process is to understand how might gas utilities look at IRP solutions in light of a trend towards greenhouse gas emission reduction, one of which might be changes in economy wide usage of natural gas in the future.

So part of what the proposal is putting forward is -- and calls out several areas is having those sensitivities, or having those tests or considerations for what things might look like if the underlying assumptions made may be different.

MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, my Internet is a little unstable there and I didn't hear all or your answer.  But that's fine; I can read the transcript.

But can I take it that part of your response was, or you would agree that it's likely that that was included because of the uncertainty of long-term use of gas infrastructure in the context of what we've discussed as an energy transition?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that is our understanding.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I've turned off my video.  I hope it's not a problem for folks to deal with this unstable Internet.

Do you think that's a reasonable option as a sensitivity analysis to deal with that concern?

MR. YOUNG:  In the context of New York State, yes.  How it should be done in Ontario, we've made a recommendation that the OEB Board should take into account policies within Ontario, and this is a question that is addressed to how those policies are designed and implemented.

So within New York State, we agree this is a good approach.  For Ontario, which has a different policy context, we will have to review whether that's appropriate or not.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  Finally on this report, if you turn to page 7 of the report at the bottom of the page -- that's page 7 of tab 19.  Thank you.

There it is noted that staff refers to it as a noteworthy aspect of their requirements, and they're talking about the utility filing requirements, is that each utility filing must -- and this is the long-term triennial report -- each filing must contain a no infrastructure option in addition to other options, which would include a mix of utility-sponsored demand reduction measures that will project any gap between suggested load and available supply, and may include a number of possible contingency solutions.

First of all, you'll agree that's a significant difference between what's proposed in New York and what is in Enbridge Gas's proposal?

MR. YOUNG:  This is definitely a new -- the requirement for a no-infrastructure option is unique.

MR. POCH:  Let's leave it at that, and those are all my questions.  Thank you, panel, and thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Dr. Higgin, is it you up for Energy Probe next?
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, gentlemen.

So I'm representing Energy Probe, and I will be using our compendium, which is K3.1, to conduct my examination.

Just a preliminary question to you gentlemen.  Who is the point person or persons at the OEB for your assignment?

MR. MORAN:  I'm sorry, could you please repeat the question?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Who was the point person or contact person at the OEB for your assignment?

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Michael Parkes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So Mr. Parkes made the presentation on presentation day.  Is that correct to your recollection?

MR. MORAN:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  In the compendium, I did provide the context for the original response to BOMA 13 about the table of economic tests.

I'm going to start on page 15 of the compendium, and your undertaking 3.10 D and the added responses you have provided, starting with the table.

I haven't got time to go through the table.  It is self-explanatory, but my question starts with the paragraph following the comparison table, if you could scroll down the two paragraphs are -- there we are.  And thank you very much, Stephanie.

So in this paragraph, you note some of your caveats about EB-0134 and EB-0138 and in particular that NPV is in their IRPAs.  Did you hear the discussion with EGI yesterday about that in JT2.15?  Is this also what  EGI proposes from your understanding, for example coming up with an NPV or m cubed demand as a comparator?  Can you comment, please?

MR. YOUNG:  We have not reviewed the transcript, nor was our full panel listening in yesterday.  So we can't speak to exactly what was discussed.  But what we will say,  as we point out here, is that the NPV solution is one way to do this, and it can go back to our first recommendation of developing a handbook or supplemental guide.

There's many ways to compare supply side/demand side infrastructure alternatives.  But whatever way is chosen, it should be clear to everyone involved exactly how things will be compared, whatever metric is chosen.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  You then say that all of the options --


MS. ANDERSON:  Can I suggest you turn your camera off, so that hopefully the network connection is better?

DR. HIGGIN:  I've done that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  I'll repeat.  So you then say all options may yield negative NPV.  So does that apply to both pipe and non-pipe IRPAs?  Could you explain that and how that relates to the standard EB-00130 price line profitability in this?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't know if we're able to address the second part of your question, but for the first part in doing a cost benefit analysis, there's a possibility that all options have negative NPV, in which case in selecting the least negative option might be -- may then have better cost-effectiveness than others.

DR. HIGGIN:  You then go on to say that the OEB guidance regarding stages 2 and 3 of the EBO test is limited.  Could you explain what you think needs to be done to fix that?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  This is as I just stated.  So our first recommendation is how -- and we have it here in the quote, is how exactly the second stage and third stage will be applied, what are the costs and benefits that will be considered, which -- what are the differentiators between stage 2 versus stage 3, are all things that should be described, whether in a handbook or a supplemental guide.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Thank you.  So could you please turn to page 16.  So I've highlighted a couple of the comparison items that you have in the bullets, the first two, that you see them as highlighted.  So first of all, dealing with the first one, reliability, resiliency, do you agree that EGI's evidence is that reliability and resilience is something that EGI considers for [audio dropout] and IRPAs in the asset management plan along with other risk factors?  Do you agree with that?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't know if we can comment on that specifically, but what we would say is that, back to our first recommendation, it should be explicitly defined in whatever the cost-benefit test, through a handbook or supplemental guide, just so it's very clear.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Does ConEd have a similar asset management plan and a risk analysis matrix to the one proposed by EGI?

MR. YOUNG:  We haven't done that comparison, but we do know that in the -- both the ConEd and MPA proposal, the joint utilities proposal in the gas planning proceeding, as well as the PSC's recent framework document, identifies reliability and resiliency risk and is continuing to evaluate on how to assign specific derating factors or other mechanisms to highlight the differences in reliability between traditional and non-traditional approaches.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Please turn to page 17.  So you'll see that I've highlighted a couple of items.  I won't bother with the first one, because that has been discussed with Mr. Poch, and it is a difference that you have noted.

But let's turn to the alternative fuel cost and the highlighting there.  Let's talk about energy and electricity, rather than fuel cost.  Some IRPAs are electricity-intensive, such as hydrogen injection into the pipeline or the end-use ground-source heat pumps.  Your report indicates that the New York utilities supply both gas and electricity.

So how will intra-energy integrated resource planning for gas and electricity work in Ontario with a separate gas and electricity utility?  What are your thoughts on this?

MR. YOUNG:  We haven't been asked to specifically provide a recommendation about how that might occur, but as was brought up, I think, in the first question this morning in the comparison, that is a major issue and something that needs to be considered, is how a single-fuel utility addresses solutions that have implications across different fuel types that they may not have control over.

DR. HIGGIN:  Have you looked at any single-fuel electricity where this has been addressed?

MR. YOUNG:  As we see -- go ahead, Paul.

MR. MORAN:  I'm sorry, may I ask you to please repeat the question?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, have you examined or looked at a single-fuel utility where this question of intra-energy IRPAs and so on has been addressed?

MR. YOUNG:  I believe that there are solutions that have been developed explicitly for DSM, but not explicitly for the -- what we're talking about here is integrative research planning as alternative to infrastructure.  That is something that is under development in New York State.  There are single-fuel utilities in New York State, both gas only and electric only, so that is something that they are currently exploring within their proceeding.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So could we just look at the bottom of the page and your response about discount rates, and then perhaps flip over to page 18, if you could.  And then at the top of the page you will see highlighted that you note here in this comparison the weighted average cost of capital unless specified otherwise is used, and so could you just explain how that is done in either the TRC test or the other ways that the BCA handbook looks at discounting for IRPAs?

MR. YOUNG:  I mean -- excuse me.  So our response is directly lifted from the -- and quoted from the BCA handbook, so I'm not sure that we have anything else to add to that.

DR. HIGGIN:  But that does compare with the Enbridge proposal stage 1, which is to use the utility cost of capital.  You would agree with that?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct.  So as we pointed out in this response is that there are different discount rates being applied for different tests in different jurisdictions.  We aren't making a recommendation about which discount rate should be applied in this situation, but rather laying out the differences in these tests.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So thank you.  So the question is that this then is one of the key issues, apart from the test, is what discount rates should be used.  You would agree with that?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct.  That is something that the -- should be under consideration.

DR. HIGGIN:  So as you have heard the evidence in here or read the transcript, you can see that many people are using different discount rates.  For example, some parties such as Mr. Neme are using the social type discount rate.  You've heard that evidence, I presume?

MR. YOUNG:  We are familiar.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  I won't ask you more about that, just the fact that there are -- it is an area for future consideration.

So you've also heard EGI's evidence about modified DCF plus test, so do you think that they could repurpose the DCF plus test for Ontario, or are you leaning toward supporting the TRC list and other tests like some of the other parties are proposing?

MR. YOUNG:  So we haven't been asked to weigh in on that topic specifically and are not prepared to suggest one way is better than the other.  But what we have done is that, whatever way is chosen in our first recommendation is saying that the handbook or supplemental guide should be developed to lay this out very transparently for everyone to understand how it's done.  There's multiple ways to do this, but we haven't been asked or prepared to say that one way is better than the other.

DR. HIGGIN:  So at this point you don't have an opinion with whichever way a direction should be used here in Ontario.  Is that to summarize your position?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So thank you very much for clarifications, and those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  And Ms. DeMarco.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much, Panel.  I just have a few questions for you, and they pertain to Table 2 on page 22 of your report.  Can I ask you to turn that up.

And just while you're doing that, that is the summary of the NPS related benefits and costs handbook -- costs from the revised ConEd BCA handbook; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  [Audio dropout] report does provide that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  Thank you.  And I want to talk to you about the left-hand column if I can.  I have got it up here.  I'm not sure if you have got it up on the screen.  Let me just have a check.  Stephanie is pulling it up.

The left hand column are really the avoided costs that pertain to the net benefit categories -- before we get into them, is it to fair to say there is no federally legislated carbon pricing in the U.S. right now.  Is that fair?

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. DeMarco, I don't mean to interrupt, but I think we're at the wrong page on the document.  I think it's page 22 of the PDF, but I think it's page 16 of the report, if Ms. Allman is trying to pull it up.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.  I'm sorry.

MR. MORAN:  Correct, there is no federal carbon pricing regime in the United States currently.

MS. DeMARCO:  Is it also fair to say that the state of New York does not have a carbon pricing regime that applies to natural gas.  Is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  Jeremy, do you have any insight on that?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I'm sorry, I'm not able to answer that question.  One would think there should be symmetry, but I would have to check that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you take that, subject to check, that the state of New York does not have a carbon pricing regime applicable to natural gas?

MR. MORAN:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And you are aware that both Ontario and the federal government have legislated carbon pricing regimes, is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  In Ontario?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  So I would like to ask you about the category that says "avoided commodity costs" under that left column.  That's strictly gas commodity cost, is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  We would need to check on that for the specifics of what is included within that avoided commodity cost.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask for an undertaking to do that?  And very specifically, I can narrow it for you.  It's just that avoided carbon commodity costs are not included in that category.

MR. YOUNG:  We will be happy to check on that.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.1, because I believe the other matter we were discussing before is something Enbridge is going to file, not these witnesses.  So I think this is undertaking  so J4.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1B:  TO CONFIRM THAT AVOIDED CARBON COMMODITY COSTS ARE NOT INCLUDED IN THAT CATEGORY


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And the last category says "external benefits", and includes avoided CO2 and other emissions, do you see that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm assuming that's a quantity of emissions avoided, not a quantity of emission costs avoided.  Do I have that right?

MR. MORAN:  Again subject to check, we're happy to add that to the other request and just confirm that.

MR. NEWBERGER:  I believe that there is a monetized value there.

MS. DeMARCO:  You believe there is a monetized value of avoided CO2 emission costs?

MR. NEWBERGER:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Could you explain that to me, and how that's determined?

MR.. NEWBERGER:  I believe we've submitted or referenced the BCA handbook for ConEdison.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, this is from the BCA handbook.

MR. NEWBERGER:  Right, and it references a social cost of carbon.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So that's my question --


MR. NEWBERGER:  As a factor, I'm sorry, as a factor in the calculation of avoided CO2.

MS. DeMARCO:  So in the net benefit categories, you're calculating the social cost of carbon as the avoided CO2 costs?

MR. NEWBERGER:  That is the way that it is defined -- I believe that's the way it's defined in the handbook.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can you please advise how the social cost of carbon is calculated?

MR. NEWBERGER:  I have open in front of me the handbook, and I will read what it says here on page 20 -- sorry, I'm making a mistake.  I was looking at the prior version, and the reference -- the version submitted in September.

Ms. DeMarco, while I'm making sure I'm referencing the right document, would you like to proceed with other questions?

MS. DeMARCO:  If it's easier, if you want to take it as an undertaking to provide how the social cost of carbon is calculated -- and I'm happy to have it excerpted straight from the handbook.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we can do that, Ms. DeMarco, unless there is any problem the witnesses identify.

MR. NEWBERGER:  I'm referencing it right now, the updated one, it says the social -- this is page 29 of the September 2020 version of the BCA handbook, and it says the social cost of carbon is based on the federal environmental protection agency societal cost of carbon.

And there is a footnote referencing New York Department of Public Service guidance from 2018.  We can dig further into that and provide that, if you require further information.

MS. DeMARCO:  That would be great.  Can I ask you to provide the exact calculation of the social cost of carbon in that regard?

MR. MILLAR:  We'll mark that as J4.2.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION OF THE SOCIAL COST OF CARBON IN THE SEPTEMBER 2020 VERSION OF THE BCA HANDBOOK


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Fair to say that if there was a legislated price on carbon, you would include this in the NPS benefits, you would include those costs in the NPS benefits, the avoided costs of carbon?

MR. NEWBERGER:  Where are you asking whether they would be included?

MS. DeMARCO:  In assessing the NPS benefit categories.

MR. NEWBERGER:  Yes.  I would suggest there would be a new category, because if they're legislated to be included, they would -- in some eyes, they would no longer considered to be externalities.

MS. DeMARCO:  So they're all in a separate category, but you would include them in the test of NPS benefit categories?

MR. NEWBERGER:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So those are all avoided costs.  What about carbon related revenues?  If, for example, a non-pipeline alternative or a non-pipeline solution -- like hydrogen, for example -- resulted in low carbon fuel standard revenues, would you include those revenues in the NPS benefit categories?

MR.. NEWBERGER:  Interesting thing to consider, whether they would be identified as a benefit or whether they would be -- you know, depending on the definition of the system that's being looked at, and the definition of the test, whether in some cases they might be considered to be a transfer.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm not sure I understand that.  Could you help me understand what you mean by considering them as transfer?

MR. NEWBERGER:  A transfer payment that as a result of the -- as a result of producing those fuels within the gas production, if there is an outgrowth -- not an outgrowth, an offshoot that produced revenue, whether that revenue would be considered as a benefit or whether it would be a transfer from complying with the environmental regulations to the producer. 

MS. DeMARCO:  Yeah, yeah, I'm not sure --


MR. NEWBERGER:  It really goes back to the definition of the test that you're going to be using, whether it's a societal test, a utility test, you know, whether that's inside that universe of what's counted for benefits or whether it's outside.  It would really need to be determined.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder, because this Board is determining exactly what the appropriate test -- or could be determining exactly what the appropriate test is, so I wonder if you could undertake to demonstrate for us how carbon-related or LCFS-related revenues would be treated under DCF, UCT, or TRC tests?

MR. YOUNG:  I might -- I don't know if that's -- if it's appropriate for us to be answering those questions.  I mean, this goes back to our recommendation for a handbook or guide.  We're recommending that a handbook or guide be developed to address these questions specifically.  We don't want to speculate exactly how it might fit in under different tests.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, I wasn't precise enough.  Under the ConEd BCA handbook, under that specific -- under the tests applied there, how would carbon-related revenues be treated?  Specifically LCFS-related revenues.  Could you undertake to advise?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  And so I think, I mean, the handbook itself does provide a few examples.  There is not a similar LCFS within New York State that would be applicable, so I don't -- this kind of question may not have been addressed yet in the current handbook, so it may not be appropriate for us to be ascribing how Con Edison's handbook might be addressed if it's not specifically within the handbook itself.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so I'm clear on that, state entities are eligible under the U.S. federal LCFS, are they not?

MR. YOUNG:  Correct, but the LCFS is specifically tied towards transportation and not exactly -- may not, so how it would be done for transportation end use versus for building electric generation end use, I have not seen within the handbook about how those types of situations might be addressed.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you undertake to check if there is anything in the handbook?  And it might be that your answer is there is nothing in the handbook.

MR. YOUNG:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you undertake --


MR. MORAN:  We will undertake to check -- we can undertake to check, but the questions you're asking are actually very -- they're not an insignificant undertaking, and you would need -- you would need to advise on how to answer your request to do that comparison.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm happy to leave you in Mr. Millar's hands in that regard.  I wouldn't want to expand the scope of your work unduly, but some indicative response would be very helpful, given the contextual differences between what you analyze in the current legislated Ontario situation.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. DeMarco, why don't we do this.  We'll take the undertaking on a best-efforts basis, kind of on the understanding that we're not going to write a new report or something like that, but we absolutely want to be helpful to you and the Board.  So can you give us your 12-word overview of the undertaking, then we'll make our best efforts to respond?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, to undertake to illustrate on a best-efforts basis how carbon and LCFS-related revenues would be treated under the revised ConEd BCA handbook.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We'll mark that as J4.3, and we'll do our best.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  TO ILLUSTRATE ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS HOW CARBON AND LCFS-RELATED REVENUES WOULD BE TREATED UNDER THE REVISED CONED BCA HANDBOOK.

MS. DeMARCO:  And those are my questions.  Thank you for your help.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

And Mr. Quinn.  There you are.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  I guess it's good afternoon, Madam Chair, Commissioner Frank, and Commissioner Janigan.  Good afternoon to the witness panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn, and I represent FRPO in this proceeding.

I want to just start by asking a question from the report, and if you can display page 59 of the report, starting with the heading of "key recommendations".  Thank you, Stephanie.  So these are a few recommendations starting at page 59.  If you scroll down to page 60, and the second-last bullet -- thank you -- it reads -- off the screen here, but thank you:

"Enbridge Gas has indicated that deploying an AMI system will enable the IRP framework, as these meters can allow Enbridge Gas to collect hourly peak demand data and target the most effective deployment of IRPA."

There's a footnote to that, 125, and if we can scroll down just a little bit further to footnote 125 -- thank you -- it says:

"Guidehouse notes that there are concerns in Ontario due to the cost and efficacy of AMI due to prior experience with electric smart meters."

Now, respecting the panel we have here today, is anybody on the panel able to speak to the concerns relative to the gas IRP in this proceeding?

MR. MORAN:  Can you repeat the question, sir?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  I just -- what I'm looking for is, can you elaborate on the concerns that are cited in this footnote relative to the gas IRP in this proceeding?

MR. YOUNG:  The footnote states that there was prior experience with the electric smart meters and concerns.  Are you asking whether any of those concerns would be relevant for the gas AMI --


MR. QUINN:  That's correct, yes, thank you.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  At least personally I can't speak to the specifics of the concerns with an Ontario context, but what we've heard through this proceeding is that the costs and the benefits of AMI are not fully settled as -- to roll it out across all customer meters is a big project.

And so, yeah, the valuation of the cost-benefit from the electric side, which has more experience, has been questioned by different stakeholders, so, yeah, that is one area that might have relevance from the gas AMI standpoint.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I'm not asking you to go beyond your realm of experience, but specific to gas, is it your experience that there are less opportunities in gas for such things as demand response or other benefits to an AMI program than there are in the electricity domain?

MR. YOUNG:  I'll let Paul address this.

MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Quinn, may I ask you to repeat the question, please?

MR. QUINN:  I'm just asking in terms of your experience whether there are less potential benefits on the gas side for demand-related benefits associated with AMI than there are traditionally on the electric side.

MR. MORAN:  Let me try to answer this as best I can.  The benefits of automated meter-reading are the reduction in meter-reading costs, the ability to manage better accuracy of meter reads, and the ability to collect passage of or measure energy consumption on a more frequent interval.

The extent to which any -- and there may be some other benefits.  I'm not -- and another benefit may be avoided outage management costs, in terms of the -- if there is a disconnect or an issue on energy delivery, the meter can communicate that back to populations, and the ability to collect where the outages are happening can be more seamless.

I'm just trying to think through the list of benefits from a high level.  I think then the next piece of analysis is to understand how do any of those benefits limit themselves to demand management -- demand-side management systems programs and how do they help advance those demand-side management programs in the context of gas IRP.  That's the way I would view that analysis.

But to get back to your specific question, which is how did all this happen, I don't know if this team has done the work to think that all through in regards -- there could be some advantages of being able to understand better load profiles, and be able to do better measurement and verification that the demand side responses are actually doing what they're intended do.  And that then can help lend itself toward comparing different types of IRP solutions on an equal basis.

But the -- I'm going to pause there.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate your answer.  I have one simple follow-up question because it pertains to what Mr. Brophy was talking to you about previously.

From a system constraint point of view, which is identified as part of this proceeding, would it be your experience that appropriately designed systems to capture gate station or single source supply metering can assist in identifying system constraints as opposed to --


MS. WALTER:  I'm sorry to interrupt.  Can we stop the hearing for a moment, because Mr. Janigan has fallen off the line.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Walter, perhaps the panel will go into a breakout room briefly while we're waiting to get him connected.

MS. WALTER: Okay.

[Board Panel confer.]


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, everyone.  We did confirm with Mr. Janigan that he only dropped off during this question of the gate station, so we didn't miss anything.  I think the transcript looks good there.

We can continue on from there, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll try to be precise to be effective here.

Mr. Young, I appreciate you're looking for clarity on the question.  System constraints traditionally have been addressed through pipeline projects.  That's the foundation for some of this IRP proceeding.

Would you agree with me that gate station electronic metering can inform system constraint at the macro level to define peak day demand requirements for that system?

I'm sorry, you're on mute, I think.

MR. MORAN:  Apologies.  The answer is potentially.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MORAN:  Each distribution system is unique.  Each distribution system has different conductivity to upstream points.  You know, where is the right place to put down a data acquisition and controls, I think is really customized to each situation of each distribution system.

MR. QUINN:  I understand and respect your answer.  So adept deployment of electronic meter at specific locations can be economically superior than deploying an entire fleet of AMI meters to register the peak demand for that system?

MR. MORAN:  Potentially.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'll leave it at that. I have one more question and I'll wrap up.

Mr. Moran, in your experience -- is it your experience that a utility that receives gas from a transmission company at an interconnect with the transmission company, that utility can establish contracting conditions with a third party to provide firm delivery to that interconnect with the same level of reliability as the utility holding the pipeline direct?

MR. MORAN:  Is the question can the utility get the same level of service, transmission service, from a third party?  Not necessarily.

MR. QUINN:  So the --


MR. MORAN:  Not necessarily, because the -- I have seen contracts where the third party sometimes is not visibility to what actual transportation capacity right that third party have.

MR. QUINN:  But if you -- if a part of the process establishing that right, there is a requirement for proof of underpinning firm transportation rights and respecting equivalent force majeure provisions and all that type of diligence, can the utility not establish a contracting that would provide the ability -- provide the utility the ability to rely on those deliveries in a comparable way to holding a pipeline contract?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, this is beginning to get a little bit outside my realm of expertise.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Fair enough, sir.  I just -- you'd agree with me then, this contract is complex and needs to be done by people with experience to ensure a level of reliability for peak demand?

MR. MORAN:  Not just the reliability, but the resiliency.  So resiliency is the ability to withstand an unforeseen, low-probability, high-impact event.  Reliability is the ability to deliver consistently every day over the course of a period of time.  If there is -- so the things that lend themselves to resiliency are going to be increasingly important over time as we see the impact of unforeseen, climactic events having a massive impact on infrastructure and energy delivery.  And it just so happens I live in Houston and can speak directly to experiences of resiliency recently.

So want to share with the Board that we need to be careful around resiliency, that we have the right level of diversity of supply, diversity of transport, diversity of services, to enable this level of energy delivery that ratepayers expect, and that's not been historically a focus.

Resiliency has typically been a by-product of reliability, but in and of itself resiliency is an incredibly important factor, and so it goes back to kind of, you know, what kind of firm service is being provided by the pipeline or by a third party that speaks to resiliency.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  And I trust there will be a lot of lessons learned from your recent experience that maybe will learn -- will inform Ontario, so thank you for the elaboration on that.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  So now we move to Commissioner questions, and I guess, Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions?

MR. JANIGAN:  I don't have any questions for this panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Frank?
Questions by the Board:

MS. FRANK:  Yes, I have a couple of questions.  First I want to start with Mr. Moran.  Thank you for that observation and the priority that we have to add to resiliency, which is, I think, a much bigger issue than we thought about in the past.

So my questions.  First of all, I would like to know, if we look at Con Edison or New York more broadly, can you tell us what IRPAs have actually been implemented and have been successful?  Are there any -- I'm more interested in the nature, the what type of an IRPA was it that actually worked?

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  In our report we do have a -- we do have a list of all of those that have been proposed and where they are in the process of being implemented --


MS. FRANK:  I'm just looking at the end state.  It's worked, it's done.

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  So, I mean, I'm not sure how many of them are actually completed.  There has been -- I'll take, for example, the CNI gas DR performance-based incentive, as well as a residential smart thermostat-based incentive -- or, sorry, the based DR program.  Both of those I think are on their third year of -- coming on to third year of winter and have filed reports demonstrating both successes and lessons learned.

So I do also know that in -- there have been some fuel-switching projects that have been done in Westchester County, but I believe all of the pilots and programs are -- from Con Edison's standpoint are still underway.

From National Grid's standpoint, there -- several of the pilots in both New York and Massachusetts have concluded, and they filed reports about what they found there.

MS. FRANK:  And so you're saying that it's a bit of a mixed bag.  Some work and some you learn about what to do differently.

MR. YOUNG:  Right.  Right.  And some of that is in -- our recommendation around flexibility is that you may have ideas and preconceptions going in, and then you open up to the market, whether it's for a public solicitation or you just going out and trying to find customers to participate, and you figure out -- and I'll speak to specifically the gas DR's perspective -- that they are serving the customer classes that really can't participate because of other regulations that you may not have foreseen in the state.

One specifically that comes to mind is, New York City has minimum heating temperature regulations.  Gas DR on peak days, obviously, space heating is a major, major load, and so if the multi-family apartment buildings are operating at that minimum temperature threshold to begin with, you're legally not allowed to reduce that any further.  So that was a key learning.

There's other learnings as well, particularly around the design of, if you're looking for an hourly reduction or a full day reduction, that, yeah, you don't -- so there's so limited information to begin with, running the pilots allows you to understand how each of the opportunities can work in the real world and your customer base.

MS. FRANK:  We've been hearing that there's a whole range of possibilities for alternatives that might be considered down the road.  There's many, many options.  The question is, if you're going to run a couple of pilots, are there areas that have a higher potential of providing learnings or successful implementation?  Where would you start?  What areas would you, based upon what you've seen in New York, would be high-potential areas to look at?  Just categories.

MR. MORAN:  Can you give us a moment to convene?  Would that be okay?  Just a moment?

MS. FRANK:  Certainly.

MR. MORAN:  If we can be asked to move to -- thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, for allowing us to step out for a moment.  We want to make sure we provide an answer that's meaningful.

I think there are three areas of consideration in terms of trying to find the next area to go into.

I think the first area is be specific in terms -- or find meaningful lessons already learned, so we don't have to relearn what's been demonstrated in other jurisdictions perhaps from Massachusetts or New York.

Two is in terms of pilots and testing non-pipe solutions as part of IRP, it's look to do pilots that have not been done already.

Again, to leverage the lessons that have been demonstrated through existing pilots, let's find pilots to do that will teach us new lessons.

And three is potentially there are opportunities to explore programs that will support the ability of energy efficiency or demand response to be functioning partners in gas IRP, relative to pipe solutions.  For example, is there a role to do advanced weatherization and improving heat retention in housing stock or building stock, and that weatherization in itself will contribute to demand response and energy efficiency.

So those are three areas of potential focus.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you, that's quite helpful.  Just one other question and hopefully a brief response.

In your recommendations, you talked about sufficient flexibility, and I just didn't know what sufficient flexibility meant, particularly the modifier sufficient.

MR. YOUNG:  Sure.  So we don't want to recommend that there's carte blanche to operate full flexibility, but flexibility consistent with how things are done, whether it's for DSM programs or other processes in Ontario.

In our conversation with ConEdison and National Grid representatives, they really cited that the flexibility to change incentive amounts year over year, shift the focus of marketing or the types of solutions that are offered, and change their strategy both within a year or in between years they found to be very effective, because you can incorporate the lessons learned and really try to achieve the targets without a protracted back and forth process with regulators and stakeholders.

Having said that, it's our understanding in New York State that the pilots are approved for a period of time, with a given full budget.  And so budget requests that might be subject to work with the regulators, but how the programs are operated within the -- within years and within the approval, that's where the flexibility comes in.

Having said that, I believe it's the experience in New York State that on an annual or quarterly basis, the utility is required to provide a report to the regulator.  And so if there are major flags that come up, that's an opportunity for the regulator to reconvene a meeting and call into question whether there's higher order issues that need to be addressed.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That's fine, I get it.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, and I don't have any further questions, so I'll move to Mr. Millar and whether he has any redirect.

MR. MILLAR:  I do not, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, then thank you very much to Guidehouse for the time here.  We appreciate your contribution and you are excused.  And we will take the lunch break, and I think we were going to cut the hour a little short and come back at 1:30 as originally planned.  
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:38 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:31 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is everyone back?  I see Mr. Poch and Mr. Neme, so that's good, and I see the panel.  That's great.  And I think Mr. Stevens.  Okay.  So it's -- for our -- panel 5, our last panel of this hearing, and over to Mr. Poch to introduce your witness.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would like to introduce Mr. Neme, Chris Neme, the Futures Group.  His evidence is sponsored by both GEC and Environmental Defence.  And I would ask Mr. Neme to be sworn.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Janigan?
GREEN ENERGY COALITION - PANEL 5
Chris Neme; Affirmed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Mr. Neme, the day you presented -- presentation day, I took you through a brief summary of your credentials, 30 years as an energy economist and working for various entities, governments, what-have-you, organizations, appearing as a witness in many jurisdictions and working on projects such as the national standard practice manual.  I take it that that recital at that time was accurate?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And your CV was filed on August 5th as part of the evidence proposal, correct?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I don't know, Mr. Millar, if we need an exhibit number for that or not?

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark it.  K4.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  CHRIS NEME'S CV.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  And Madam Chair, I understand 

-- we circulated a description of Mr. Neme's expertise to the parties.  I understand there hasn't been any objection registered, but subject to your confirmation of that with the parties, I would ask that Mr. Neme be qualified as an expert to provide evidence on integrated resource planning processes and frameworks, cost-effectiveness analysis of the utility, distributed energy resource investments, including analysis, comparing traditional infrastructure investments to non-infrastructure alternatives, as well as in demand-side management programs, including both energy efficiency demand response and fuel switching.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you.  I'll just pause to just confirm that there weren't any objections?  Hearing none, Mr. Neme is confirmed as an expert witness.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair --


THE REPORTER:  Can I just pause right now to ask Mr. Poch to turn his volume up again, please.  I'm not hearing every word you're saying, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  I have it up full now.  Is that better?

THE REPORTER:  Possibly.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I'll try to keep my voice up.

Mr. Neme, I just wanted to ask you one further question about your experience, which may not be apparent from your CV.

I understand you currently serve on behalf of Connecticut regulators on a study team for the 2021 New England avoided energy supply cost study.  Can you just tell us what that entails?

MR. NEME:  Yes, the New England avoided energy supply cost study is a study that's undertaken every three years to develop estimates of avoided electric, avoided gas, and avoided delivered fuel costs to inform cost-effectiveness assessments of energy efficiency, demand response, and electrification.  It includes a chapter on avoided T&D costs and also addresses a variety of other impacts and benefits, potential benefits, of distributed resources such as market price suppression of facts, wholesale risk premiums, and the value of carbon emission avoidance.

The study that's been undertaken this year, the first part of which will be out in about a week and a half, will also include a climate policy sensitivity analysis.  My role on the study team is as a reviewer of the scope of work and the various interim deliverables.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Before turning to a few questions on the substance of these proceedings, I just wanted to ask you to adopt as your evidence in this proceeding your report, which is Exhibit N2.GEC-ED, with a minor revision made on February 18th, your interrogatory responses in the N2.GEC-ED series, your testimony at the technical conference on the 12th of February, the slides and your oral presentation of February 19th, and your undertaking response, which is J3.10A.  Do you adopt all that as your sworn evidence?

MR. NEME:  I do.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  First of all, are there any further elaboration on that evidence you need to make?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  I wanted to clarify something about my undertaking response in response to Dr. Higgin, specifically, to simplify the presentation of that response in the analysis.  I characterized both infrastructure costs and IRPA costs as if they were expensed in the year that they were incurred.  Ideally, analyses of cost-effectiveness of these types of investments should amortize the capitalized costs into turning them into annual revenue requirements and then compute the net present value of the stream of those revenue requirements.

MR. POCH:  And just for the record, that was JT3.10A that you were referring to.

I don't propose to take you -- to summarize your evidence with you on the record today.  I think it speak for itself in most cases.  There's a few matters, though, that have arisen since then that I would like to ask you to comment on, and first of all, Ms. Van Der Paelt suggested there was a potential conflict in your report between the statement which appears on page 22 that the utility needs to own final decisions and its proposal to -- and your proposal to create an Ontario equivalent of the Vermont system planning committee in which there is voting.  Can you comment on that concern?

MR. NEME:  Yes, there is no conflict between those two statements, but I can see or understand why Ms. Van Der Paelt might have thought that there was.  So let me be clear about what voting means in the context of the Vermont system planning committee.  Basically, voting is conducted when required solely for the purpose of developing a committee recommendation.  The utility still makes the final decision about what it wants to propose to regulators.  The regulators then simply have the benefit of knowing what the committee's recommendation is on what the utility actually filed.

And I'll note that in reality voting, quote-unquote, on the Vermont committee has not really been all that important, because decisions have pretty much exclusively been reached through consensus collaboration processes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And following your presentation, the Panel Chair asked whether the Vermont system planning committee was needed in Vermont in particular to facilitate collaboration between the many different utilities that exist there and, if so, whether that means it would have applicability for Ontario gas IRP because we are only addressing one utility, Enbridge.

Can you elaborate further on your response?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  At the time Madam Chair asked me that question my response was that the Vermont system planning committee surely could have one advantage of enabling better collaboration or coordination between the roughly 20 different electric utilities in the state, but that wasn't its only function or purpose.

In reflecting a little bit further on the question, I decided to make a follow-up phone call to a former colleague of mine who has served on the Vermont committee since its inception more than a decade ago, and he confirmed that account, suggesting that the role of the committee has been much more oriented around facilitating input from non-utility stakeholders than about facilitating interactions or collaborations between utilities, and I think a reasonable read of the nine objectives that are laid out in the Charter for the committee in which I think I also referenced in my report would be consistent with that interpretation.

MR. POCH:  All right.  What functions has the committee served other than the assessment of the viability of IRPAs in specific locations?

MR. NEME:  One important additional function is that it created a forum for addressing IRP framework or policy issues.  For example, Vermont's pre-screening criteria, analogous to what Enbridge is calling binary criteria were developed through the Vermont system planning committee, and then put forward to regulators for approval.

I'll note that I've had similar experience as it relates to gas and electric utility efficiency programs with an analogous Illinois stakeholder advisory group.  I served on that advisory group on behalf of my Illinois client for the past decade, and observed that as time has gone on, the Illinois congress commission, the state regulator there, has increasingly asked the stakeholder advisory group to address a variety of detailed energy  efficiency policy framework issues that seemed better suited for those collaborative discussions.

And generally speaking, the stakeholder advisory group in Illinois has addressed those requests from the regulators in a consensus-building manner and which unanimous among stakeholders proposals for how to deal with them has become the norm.

When there have been exceptions, and there have been one or two, the differences have at least been narrowed, and then the remaining disputes have been laid out with arguments from both sides of the case and presented to regulators for resolution.

But the process, by addressing most of the concerns through consensus and then narrowing the scope of disagreements on items which there is still disagreement has significantly reduced the regulator's burden and, I would argue, has produced a much better outcome because some of the topics that you get into in these, when you get down into, kind of beyond the first level, policy issues can get a little bit arcane and can benefit more from experts having free-flowing conversations, than dealing with contested regulatory proceedings and interrogatories and the like.

MR. POCH:  Panel member Frank asked you whether the TRC plus test would be applied to infrastructure options as well as IRPAs, and I understand you would like to clarify your response to that.

MR. NEME:  I think I may not have been quite as crystal clear as I would have liked.  So let me try to say it clearly.  The answer is yes, the TRC plus test would have been applied equally to both infrastructure solutions and non-pipe solutions.

When I responded to Commissioner Frank at the time, I made the point that cost-effectiveness analyses of a particular investment are always comparing that investment to something else.  And the question is simply what is that something else.

And I suggested that when assessing the cost-effectiveness of IRPAs, you would compare them to the cost and benefits of the infrastructure investment.  I think I noted at the time that the analysis could be done the other way around; you could start with the IRPA as the assumed baseline, and compare the infrastructure investment to the cost and benefits of the IRPA.

But either way, the test is applied equally to both options, because it is comparing differences in cost and benefits of each option to the other.

I suspect that Commissioner Frank's question may have arisen in part because current use of EB 0134 in leave to construct applications is a little bit different.  Specifically, it compares both the infrastructure option and the non-pipe solution option to a third hypothetical option of doing nothing.

I think this is because EB 0134 was originally designed to assess gas system expansion projects, and to ensure that existing customers don't subsidize new customers in those expansions.

However, it is now being applied to system reinforcement projects, where we're talking about the need to address reliability concerns for existing customers.

So in addition to some of the other concerns I have articulated about it, this type of application of EB 0134 to projects designed to deal with reliability for existing customers seems problematic, because both the infrastructure options and the non-pipe solution options are being compared to do a completely unrealistic option of doing nothing to address reliability, and essentially assuming that demand, including demand for existing customers, will either not grow or will be prohibited from growing.

I seems a bit like trying to fit a square peg in a round hole.

MR. POCH:  One further topic.  Enbridge has specifically asked for direction from the Board on the appropriateness of including non-gas alternatives as IRPAs, and you have suggested that the framework should require consideration of risks associated with facilities as well as alternatives.  In particular, you highlight those related to climate policy, whether it's RNG, hydrogen or electrification.

On Tuesday, we heard Mr. Elson and Ms. Giridhar have a long discussion about the viability of electrification, especially space heating with heat pumps, and the implications for how the company should recognize risk and uncertainty in its IRPA analyses.

Did you have any concern with Ms. Giridhar's comments in that context?

MR. NEME:  Yes, I had -- at a high level, I had three.  First, Ms. Giridhar's comparison of gas system capacity to electric system capacity and the implication that the electric system would have to maybe quadruple in size to enable full electrification of gas loads is incorrect and misleading.

Second, Ms. Giridhar's conclusion that electrification will increase electric rates is likely to be inaccurate in the short to medium term and, at best, is unfounded in the long-term.

And third, I think it's important to note that much of the discussion between Ms. Giridhar and Mr. Elson seemed to focus around the implications of 100 percent electrification of current gas use.

What that missed is that even modest levels of electrification, say 25 percent, could have huge impacts on the potential usefulness of new gas infrastructure.

MR. POCH:  I'm going to ask you to expand on each of those.  First, how is Ms. Giridhar's comparison of gas system capacity to electricity system capacity a problem?

MR. NEME:  Ms. Giridhar noted the gas system capacity is currently the equivalent of 85 gigawatts and in comparison, the electric system capacity is more like 26 to 28 gigawatts.

If we look just at residential and commercial space heating, we're probably talking more like 70 gigawatts of gas capacity.  The rest is mostly industrial, with some water heating in residential commercial buildings.

If we start with 70 gigawatts, we need to recognize that the average gas heating system is not 100 percent efficient. I would suggest that across residential and commercial buildings, on average it's probably more like 80 or 85 percent efficient.

So 70 gigawatts of gas capacity is needed to produce only about 55 or 60 gigawatts of gas heat.  More Importantly, Ms. Giridhar incorrectly suggested that at design temperatures in the order of minus 20 Celsius, air source heat pumps would have coefficient of performance of close to 1.0.

There's a couple problems with that.  First, it implicitly assumes none of the electrification we're talking about would happen with ground source heat pumps, which can have coefficients of performance of 4 or higher, almost regardless of the outdoor ambient temperature.

Secondly, it ignores that there has been significant evolution in the performance of cold climate air source heat pumps.  For example, Mitsubishi, which is one of the major international manufacturers of cold climate air source heat pumps, just introduced models earlier this year that produced their main plate capacity of heating output at temperatures of minus 21 Celsius, or minus 5 Fahrenheit with coefficients of performance of between 2 and 2.2, well below 1.0 that Ms. Giridhar assumed.

So if you assume some combination of ground source heat pumps and cold climate air source heat pumps, even with today's technology, you might get an average COP under those design temperatures more like 2 and a half or 2.6, something like that.  And again, that's without considering any potential further improvements in the technology.  
So another way to say that is that 55 to 60 gigawatts of gas heating need could be met with more like 21 to 24 gigawatts of electric generating capacity, even at that very cold design temperature.

If we think about the potential to combine some building envelope improvements, efficiency improvements to those buildings and get another 15 to 20 percent savings, we're now talking less than 20 gigawatts of system capacity on the electric side.

Now, that's still a significant increase.  Sixteen, 17, 18, 19 gigawatts of capacity would be a significant increase relative to the 26 to 28 we currently have on the electric side, but it's nowhere close to the tripling or quadrupling impacts that was implied in the discussion between Ms. Giridhar and Mr. Elson.

Moreover, that's at 100 percent electrification of all Enbridge residential and commercial space heating, and even if electrification is to become the dominant tool for decarbonizing the gas system, it's likely to be paired, at least to some degree, with some other options.

Moreover, you know, the level of electrification, even if it becomes the dominant solution out through 2050, is likely to be much less than that in the next 10 to 15 years.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, how is discussion of the impacts of electrification on electric rates of concern to you?

MR. NEME:  Well, first, I think it's worth noting that the IESO for this year forecast that winter peak demands will be about 2 gigawatts below summer peak demands.  That suggests that you could likely electrify something like 10 percent of gas heating without requiring any significant capital additions on the electric grid, and that would likely mean that that 10 percent of gas heating could be electrified while actually lowering electric grids, rather than increasing them.

Now, according to the 2019 energy efficiency market potential study, residential in gas consumption for Enbridge is forecast to grow about 10 percent over the next 20 years, so another way of saying this or thinking about this is that all of the load growth that's forecast in residential and commercial buildings for Enbridge currently over the next 20 years could potentially be met not only without increasing electric rates but potentially even while reducing them.

Even larger amounts of electrification may not require significant changes in electric grids.  And whether full electrification would require increases in electrification rates would depend on analysis that would have to be done on the marginal cost in the long-term of new generation transmission and distribution relative to current average rates.  That's analysis I haven't done, and I believe Ms. Giridhar confirmed that she herself has not done it either.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I won't be surprised if the commissioners are asking themselves right now, why is this debate important in the context of a framework setting proceeding.  Are you suggesting that Enbridge should be assuming that the energy transition will require 100 percent electrification of gas when assessing T&D needs and analyzing non-pipe alternatives?

MR. NEME:  No, that's not what I'm suggesting.  I'm simply suggesting that it is highly unlikely that electrification will not -- will not play some role in the energy transition and potentially a substantial one.  Put another way, it's extremely unlikely that it will not play a significant role.

I would also suggest that it's important to recognize that even a modest amount of electrification of gas heat, say 25 percent, could have a large impact on the usefulness of new gas infrastructure.  And even if that's not true, even if you assume no electrification is going to take place but decarbonization of the gas system is still going to proceed, there will be significant additional costs for the gas system for renewable gas, hydrogen, and whatever other strategies are employed, and that significant cost increase will have important implications for the application and cost-effectiveness or for that matter even a need of IRPAs.

Over the past couple of days there was a lot of discussion amongst Enbridge's witnesses about how the company expects and is planning for an energy transition to address climate concerns, but at the same time in this proceeding the company is effectively suggesting that its analyses of IRPAs should assume the current policy status quo and therefore to essentially assume no further transition will occur, and that's just not reasonable.

The bottom line is I'm suggesting it's important at a minimum that sensitivity analyses be conducted to consider the impacts of future climate policy and the energy transition, both on a demand and therefore the magnitude and timing for reliability concerns and the cost-effectiveness of IRPAs.

MR. POCH:  And are you suggesting -- would you suggest that sensitivity analysis is a significant undertaking?

MR. NEME:  It wouldn't need to be.  To be sure, sensitivity analyses could be conducted at a range of different levels of sophistication and complexity.  However, even analyses that are -- that employ relatively simple approaches could potentially be very informative.

For example, the Board could direct the company to assess two sensitivities, one where the carbon tax is -- ramps up to a cost of 170 dollars a tonne by 2030 and stays flat thereafter, and I understand that the company has essentially agreed to do that at this stage.  

And secondly, a scenario in which the carbon tax ramps up to 170 dollars a tonne by 2030 and then continues to ramp up even further to, say, something like 500 dollars a tonne by 2050 as a proxy for the cost to bring both gas and hydrogen at the kind of scale that would be necessary to completely displace fossil gas, and again, it would be important that those sensitivities do two things.  One is assess the impacts that those added costs would have on demand and therefore the timing of need and duration of need for a reliability solution, and that could be done even relatively simplistically through application of short- and long-term price elasticity data, and secondly, when assessing the cost-effectiveness of IRPAs relative to infrastructure options.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are my questions in-chief, and Mr. Neme is available for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

And Mr. Stevens, are you set?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  I am set, thank you very much.

Mr. Neme, I only have half an hour, and I know we have got fixed times, so I don't have much opportunity to get into the 20 minutes of information that you've just provided us, but one question does come to mind.  You were talking about how the electricity system is summer peaking, and air source heat pumps are -- you've seen as appliances to be used for winter heating, so there is some slack to be taken up, if I can use a colloquial kind of term.  Is that fair?

MR. NEME:  Before you'd need to start adding capacity.

MR. STEVENS:  Now, I have an air source heat pump, and I'll say I use it more in the summer than in the winter, because it's an air-conditioner also, so isn't it true that a high penetration of air source heat pumps is actually going to drive up summer consumption?

MR. NEME:  Probably not.  The majority of Ontarians have central air-conditioning today, and the kind of cold-climate air source heat pumps we're talking about are actually extremely efficient in cooling mode, and so if you have a home that has a central air-conditioner and a gas furnace and replaces both with a new cold-climate air source heat pump, they will actually be more efficient in summer and reduce summer peak demands relative to what they otherwise would have been.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And when I'm doing that replacement in my home, I assume I'm going to need to put two or three heat pumps in?

MR. NEME:  No, not necessarily.

MR. STEVENS:  The example that was shown in the evidence earlier -- and I won't bring it up -- showed different levels of Btu, and when I just ran a quick Google search, top level of Btu talked about having the ability to heat less than 1,000 square feet.

MR. NEME:  You were talking about the GE appliance heat pump that was discussed a couple days ago?  Is that what you're referring to --


MR. STEVENS:  That's right.  It was in one of your clients' compendia.

MR. NEME:  Yeah.  So that's a ductless mini-split air source heat pump.  They tend to come in smaller output capacities, and if you're using those you would for most homes -- well, at least for most single-family homes, you would likely need more than one.  However, there are heat pumps that are available that use the same kind of basic technology, so the outdoor compressor is very much the same as it is for those ductless mini-split examples, and it's connected to a central air-handler, just like the air=handler for a furnace, and can distribute heat to the entire house, and they come in much larger capacities than the example that was shown to you yesterday or two days ago.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  But the example that was shown to us was being put forward, I believe, as an example of a really high-efficiency example, so --


MR. NEME:  Yeah --


MR. STEVENS:  -- is the same high efficiency true of these large units?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  Well, to be clear, I think the example that Mr. Elson put forward of the GE appliance heat pump was --the focus was on its ability to produce heat at temperatures down to minus 35.  I don't recall a discussion about its efficiency, but I believe it is also relatively efficient.

But to use the manufacturer I'm a little more familiar with, which is Mitsubishi, because I have them in my home and heat my office entirely with a Mitsubishi heat pump without any backup at all, they essentially have the same outdoor compressor which is where the key efficiency lies for their centrally ducted systems as they do for their ductless mini splits.

MR. STEVENS:  Now, I'm going to turn to what I was planning to ask you about, and I would like to ask you questions about your proposal in relation to stakeholdering.

Stephanie, can I ask you to project the compendium I put together, and I'm at page 26.

You'll have seen, Mr. Neme, that I reproduced a couple pages from the Vermont system planning committee website.  I assume you had an opportunity to look through them quickly.

MR. NEME:  Yes, I did.

MR. STEVENS:  I want to confirm a few things about the Vermont system planning committee.  First of all, can you confirm it serves electric utilities and does not deal with gas utilities.

MR. NEME:  That's correct.  I think you asked me an interrogatory on this topic, and I responded to it.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  It's concerned with grid reliability for the Vermont electric grid?

MR. NEME:  Yes, it's concerned with both transmission and distribution reliability issues and how to best address them.

MR. STEVENS:  It has a core committee, as well as subcommittees?

MR. NEME:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And the core committee includes representatives from six different sectors?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you scroll down a bit please, Stephanie, on to the -- keep going a bit further.  There we go.  If you could project that whole circle.

And each of these sectors gets a vote, Mr. Neme? I know you explained what a vote means, but each sector gets one vote?

MR. NEME:  Yes, when voting is required, that's correct.  My understanding is that each sector gets its one-sixth vote.

MR. STEVENS:  As I look at this, four of the six voting sectors are utilities, correct?

MR. NEME:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  So there's distribution utilities,  transmission dependent utilities, and transmission utilities and large distribution utilities without transmission?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And then in terms of the public representation on the committee, my understanding is there's four public members representatives.

MR. NEME:  That's my understanding as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Together they have one vote.

MR. NEME:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  They include one each of representatives from residential, commercial, and environmental?

MR. NEME:  Yes, and I don't recall who the fourth one is.

MR. STEVENS:  It appeared to me it was some sort of regional planning representatives.

MR. NEME:  That may be.

MR. STEVENS:  And then the final sector that gets a vote are those who represent supply and demand resources?

MR. NEME:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe they have three representatives.

MR. NEME:  I don't recall exactly.

MR. STEVENS:  So as I went through the membership list -- and you can see it below, but I don't think we need to go to it -- my takeaway was that on this committee, there's representatives from 16 different utilities.  Does that sound fair.

MR. NEME:  I don't know the exact number, but that sounds in the ballpark.

MR. STEVENS:  So I guess my takeaway from all this is that collectively, the public representatives have four of the 23 seats and one of the six votes, is that fair?

MR. NEME:  It depends -- public defined the way it's defined here, yes, that's true.  But it depends on how you define public.  If you think about it as non-utility representatives, it's a different ratio.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, it will be two of the six?

MR. NEME:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And seven of the 23 people with seats at the table?

MR. NEME:  That sounds right.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand the committee meets around quarterly.

MR. NEME:  That's my understanding as well.  I think they are obligated to meet at least quarterly.

MR. STEVENS:  And the sub committees meet from time to time?

MR. NEME:  As needed.

MR. STEVENS:  Do you know whether the public members of the committee get paid?

MR. NEME:  By the committee itself?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, yes, that's right.  They get paid somehow through the committee structure for their participation rather than being paid by their sponsoring commercial group, for example?

MR. NEME:  I do not know.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something you'd be advocating for in the Ontario context?

MR. NEME:  I think to the extent that in Ontario there was -- there were members that had expertise that would be valuable to bring to the table, just as is the case with the current DSM evaluation and audit committee, that it would be appropriate for them to be paid, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  This is probably a question for Mr. Poch.  Would you be able to give an undertaking to investigate whether the non-utility members of the Vermont system planning committee get paid for their participation?

MR. POCH:  Mr. Neme, can you find that out easily?

MR. NEME:  I'm sure I can.

MR. POCH:  Then certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll call that J4.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  TO INVESTIGATE WHETHER THE NON-UTILITY MEMBERS OF THE VERMONT SYSTEM PLANNING COMMITTEE GET PAID FOR THEIR PARTICIPATION

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Neme, at the presentation day, and I think again today in your comments, you indicated that robust discussions among a range of stakeholders at the VSPC has meant there is not been a single contested case related to wires and non-wires solution choices, put to the Vermont regulator.  Do I have that right?

MR. NEME:  That's my understanding.

MR. STEVENS:  Do you think there is a reasonable hope for the same outcome in Ontario?

MR. NEME:  It's hard to say.  One could hope.  It's hard to say that it's unlikely there will be any disputes.  As I noted earlier, my experience with these kinds of processes in a somewhat different context, but in other jurisdictions such as Illinois, there are sometimes disputes that get put to the regulators.  They just tend to be a modest minority of the cases.

MR. STEVENS:  I see, thank you.  You may not be aware of this, but I'll ask anyway.  Do you know of any Enbridge Gas leave to construct proceedings where your client, Environmental Defence, has participated in support of the application?

MR. NEME:  I do not know.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks.  I would like to turn now to talk a little bit about evaluation methodologies.  Of course, you've explained to us at length that your proposed interim approach for the Board to take is the TRC plus test, correct?

MR. NEME:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  It's interim in the sense that I think you and Guidehouse -- and frankly, to some degree, Enbridge Gas -- are all on the same page that there needs to be an ultimate determination of exactly how costs and benefits get evaluated and factored into the comparison process; is that fair?

MR. NEME:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And would you support Guidehouse's proposed approach, where parties come together through some sort of consultative process and have perhaps some sort of straw person report put together for discussion to land at some sort of benefit-cost analysis type handbook?

MR. NEME:  I think it's important to parse the discussion a little bit here.  When I think of the cost-effectiveness handbook, I think of it as more of a set of formulas for applying a conceptual set of tests.

I think it's important for the Board to first identify conceptually what test ought to be used, and the guidebook can flesh out the details of how to apply that test.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.

MR. NEME:  I was going to say I think I've also said in my report that it could also be helpful to and there would be value in the Board initiating a process to revisit the initial test determination, and look for consistency with provincial policies to refine what test gets at adopted.  And in that context, I think the example that you laid out that you characterized as Guidehouse's proposal is certainly one way that could be done.

MR. STEVENS:  And all of that is sort of background to why you describe the initial use of the TRC test as being an interim approach?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  As I think I said in my report and in my presentation, the TRC plus test would be a reasonable place to start, but I think there's value in every jurisdiction using the guidance that the national standard practice manual lays out to assess whether its cost-effectiveness testing and in particular which categories are -- of impacts are included in its cost-effectiveness tests are entirely consistent with provincial policy, and to go through that exercise and then adjust the test to be consistent to the extent that that's necessary.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Now, I understand that one of the reasons that you propose to use the TRC plus test is that it's designed to measure the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency type measures.

MR. NEME:  It's one of -- it's one reason, and as I think I've stated before, I think it's economically irrational to use different tests to assess the same resources for different purposes, so certainly consistency in that regard is one important reason to consider the TRC test, but it's not the only one.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks.  And you talk about it being economically irrational to use different tests for different purposes, and it seems to me the TRC test was not ever designed to evaluate facilities type investments or facilities types of options, so isn't it economically irrational to be using the TRC test to benchmark or evaluate the facilities side of a comparison?

MR. NEME:  No, I think the point that I'm making about economic rationality is that the economic framework one approaches assessment of utility investments ought to be the same framework you approach any kind of investment, whether it's DSM, demand response, non-pipe solutions, renewable gas investments, or anything else.  There is no economic rationale for using different testing frameworks for applications of different types of utility investment decisions.

MR. STEVENS:  So is it fair for me to me to say that the TRC test was not designed or planned to be used to evaluate pipeline infrastructure projects and it's never been used in that way in Ontario?

MR. NEME:  I think it was -- to my knowledge it hasn't been used in that way in Ontario.  It certainly has -- or variations on it has in other jurisdictions.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Stephanie, can I ask you, please, to pull up page 45 of the compendium.  This is the response to JT3.10, which you were discussing with Mr. Poch a few minutes ago, and just for the record, as I understand it, this is sort of a hypothetical example that you've put together to use the TRC plus approach -- TRC plus test approach to compare an infrastructure solution with some IRPA solutions that might meet at least some of the need that the infrastructure is intended towards; is that fair?

MR. NEME:  That's fair, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And so I would like to start just by looking at Table 1, which is where you evaluate the cost of the infrastructure scenario.  So I take it, right, that this is sort of one side of your comparison?

MR. NEME:  I'm sorry, what do you mean by one side?

MR. STEVENS:  Conceptually let's imagine that an IRPA plan is meeting an entire identified demand or need, so I would say that's one side of the equation, and the other side of the equation is the pipeline solution that is being imagined to meet that same need.

So what I'm putting to you is Table 1 is intended to show the TRC plus test results for the infrastructure side of the equation?

MR. NEME:  Yes, if I can use some slightly different terms.  Table 1 shows the net present value of the cost of addressing a reliability need through the TRC plus test framework with an infrastructure solution.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  I think we're on the same page.

It appears to me that the only input in here is the actual capital cost for the infrastructure; is that right?

MR. NEME:  That's correct.  No, this is a simplified presentation.  To the extent that there are other impacts relevant to the TRC test that the infrastructure solution could address then those impacts would need to be reflected as well.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  So -- because you haven't reflected, for example, any non-energy benefits that might come from a pipeline solution, and what comes to mind from here, increasing municipal taxes or job creation or other economic type benefits.

MR. NEME:  That's correct.  You could decide that job creation is a category impacts that would be important to include, and then you ought to include them when you're considering any options.

MR. STEVENS:  Of course.  But they are not in your example right now.

MR. NEME:  They are not in this example.

MR. STEVENS:  And you've shown an infrastructure cost of 25,000 dollars notionally.  Is it fair to say that that represents the assumed cost to build in year 5?

MR. NEME:  Yes, that's correct.  That's why the net present value is less than that, because it's taking that investment in year 5 and discounting it back to year zero.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  So the reason I ask is, I was a bit confused, because your Table 2 shows a 25,000-dollar cost at year 10 --


MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- and I would have thought the cost would be higher at year 10 than it is at year 5.

MR. NEME:  Why would that be?

MR. STEVENS:  Inflation.  The cost -- if I know it's going to cost 100 dollars to build something today, I'm not going to assume it's going to cost that same hundred dollars five years from now.

MR. NEME:  Gotcha.  These -- I can't recall if I said that in this write-up, and if I didn't I should have, but these dollars are all real dollars.  They're all in inflation-adjusted dollars.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  So you just made this assumption for your tables that even with inflation the cost of this pipeline is the same at year 5 and year 10?

MR. NEME:  No.  When you subtract inflationary impacts, the cost is assumed to be the same.  I used the 4 percent real discount rate, so I have to use real dollars.

MR. STEVENS:  Understood.  So --


MR. NEME:  Real dollars meaning inflation subtracted out.

MR. STEVENS:  So if any particular item in here, if its costs went up more than inflation, then your approach wouldn't capture that?

MR. NEME:  No, if -- again, this is a hypothetical, and I expressed everything in real dollars.  You can do the exact same analysis with nominal dollars.  You would just have to use a different discount rate.  I used a 4 percent real discount rate.  You would have to use -- you know, you assume there's a 2 percent inflation rate applied to everything, you would have to use a discount rate that's a little bit higher than 6 percent instead of as a nominal discount rate rather than a 4 percent real discount rate.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.  And I couldn't see anywhere in your scenario where we can see the relative benefit between a pipeline that has, say, a 40-year useful life and an IRPA which has a shorter life.  Can you explain that to me?

MR. NEME:  Yeah, because you don't need to.  The scenarios that are shown here for demand response and for energy efficiency don't eliminate the need in this hypothetical -- do not eliminate the need for the pipeline investment, they just defer it five years, so the infrastructure savings is not the full 25,000 dollars, it's the devalue of pushing a 25,000-dollar investment five years further out into the future.

MR. STEVENS:  So how would that work, Mr. Neme, in the scenario where the IRP plan entirely eliminated the need for the pipeline?  How would your apples-to-apples comparison work there?

MR. NEME:  Well, if you entirely eliminate the need for the pipeline, you wouldn't have to have the infrastructure costs show up at all in any of these rows under the DR or EB or IRPA analysis.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair enough.  But on the infrastructure side you'd be constructing something that's providing 40 years of benefit --


MR. NEME:  You -- go ahead.

MR. STEVENS:  And I don't see how that 40 years of benefit is being compared -- would be compared to the IRP solution, which may not provide 40 years of benefit.

MR. NEME:  I think you may be thinking about this -- you're clearly thinking about this differently than I am.  The benefit, generally speaking, of the infrastructure investment is that it's meeting a reliability need.  If you're meeting the reliability need with an IRPA forever, you just need to show the cost of the IRPA, because you don't need the infrastructure.

MR. STEVENS:  Sure --


MR. NEME:  You can imagine a scenario where -- or at least a hypothetical scenario where there's a reliability need forecast for 2025, you know, five years out.  And that's because peak demand is assumed to be growing between now and then, and let's assume that it's expected to grow all the way out to 2030.  But at 2030, it's projected to level off and maybe decline over time.

In that scenario, all you need to be do with the IRPA to completely eliminate the need for infrastructure, is to get enough savings over the next 10 years to eliminate that growth, and then you could stop the IRPA altogether and the reliability need is still met interminably, just like it would have been under the infrastructure investment.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, but you'd agree with me you can also have a situation where infrastructure is being built to meet a need, and that need is not projected to go away.  And now you have 40 years of coverage from the infrastructure solution.

MR. NEME:  If you reach a point where your IRPA is no longer providing enough peak demand reduction to obviate the need for the infrastructure investment, then you have to kick the infrastructure investment into the analysis at that point in time.  And that's what this analysis does.  It assumes the IRPA can only defer the need for five years and that's why the infrastructure investment kicks in in year 10.

If you assumed the IRPA could defer it 10 years, then the infrastructure investment would kick in in year 15 instead of in the year 10.

MR. STEVENS:  So under each of your examples, you're not supposing then that an IRPA is indefinitely going to serve a demand need?

MR. NEME:  In this hypothetical, I did not.  There are certainly lots of examples in applications of non-wire solutions on the electric side where the IRPA turned out to permanently eliminate the need for the infrastructure investment altogether.  And there are other examples where it didn't permanently eliminate the need; it only deferred the need and there is an economic value associated with that deferral.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair enough.  It strikes me that in the situation where there is a permanent deferral to meet a permanent need, the appropriate comparison ought to be between the coverage that's provided by the pipeline and the coverage that's provided by the IRPA.  And in the pipeline scenario, you're getting 40 years of coverage.

I think we're going to argue about this, so I would like to move on.

MR. NEME:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  As I understand the TRC plus approach, and the examples that you've given, there is no accounting for or recognition of any additional revenues that will be obtained by the utility from either a pipeline solution or a capitalized IRPA, is that right?

MR. NEME:  That's correct, because revenues are not relevant to cost-effectiveness.  They are relevant to rate impact assessments, but that's a different question than cost-effectiveness.

MR. STEVENS:  We'll get there in a moment.  I assume this also means the results of the TRC plus analysis on its own could be the same with a project that has a PI of 1.1 and a project that has a PI of .3?

MR. NEME:  Can you restate your question?

MR. STEVENS:  Given you're not considering revenues, you could get a similar positive result under the TRC plus test for a project that would have a profitability index of 1.1 and a profitability index of well under 1; is that fair?

MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  The TRC test on its own then doesn't give us any indication or information about the extent to which some gas ratepayers might be cross subsidizing others receiving IRPA benefits in impacted communities.  Is that fair?

MR. NEME:  The TRC test or TRC plus test by itself does not address the question of cross subsidies.  That's why some jurisdictions require secondary tests, like the rate impact test, the RIM test, to inform answers to that question.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair enough, and you're getting to the final questions I had, which are that the TRC plus test on its own gives no indication of the gas ratepayer impact?

MR. NEME:  The TRC test by itself does not tell what you what the rate impact would be, just like the DCF plus test does not tell what you the least cost solution would be.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm asking about the TRC plus test.

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Keeping that test in mind, my understanding is that when it's used for DSM purposes, there's a resource constraint applied to limit the number of apparently positive initiatives that can be pursued; is that fair.

MR. NEME:  I'm not sure I follow the question.  Can you repeat it, please?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  When the TRC plus test is used in the DSM context in Ontario, there is also a resource constraint applied to choose which of the apparently positive projects are going to be pursued.

MR. NEME:  What do you mean by resource constraint?  Do you mean a --


MR. STEVENS:  A dollar per bill impact, for example.

MR. NEME:  In the current Ontario DSM framework, there was a decision made to constrain the size of the DSM budgets.

MR. STEVENS:  And without that constraint, I assume there could be a practically infinite number of projects or endeavours that could show a positive result on the TRC plus evaluation?

MR. NEME:  No, there would not be an infinite number. But there would -- there is more cost effective efficiency potential than is achievable under the budget constraints, but it's nowhere close to infinite.

MR. STEVENS:  I believe it will be your position that there's a lot more potentially achievable --


MR. NEME:  There is.  It's not just my position.  It's what the market potential studies that have been conducted by the Board itself would show.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  I'm almost out of time. I just wanted to confirm that while you're saying that the Board could include some sort of rate impact test, you're not advocating for that?

MR. NEME:  I have suggested, I think, in my presentation that consideration of rate impact is a reasonable consideration and having an analysis of those rate impacts as a secondary test would be a reasonable thing to pursue.

MR. STEVENS:  And because that information will be relevant to parties -- well, to the utility, to stakeholders, and the Board when making determinations about whether to choose an IRPA plan or facilities alternative?

MR. NEME:  Yes, when considered in context. I think as I said in my presentation it's important to understand that there are -- concerns about rate impact are really concerns about equity between participants and non-participants because participants always benefit.

So when you're thinking about rate impacts, you need to consider them in the several contexts.  One is how many participants do we have, not just in any individual IRPA project, but across multiple -- indeed, across all the investments the utility makes.  And secondly, to also consider them in the context of the fact that when we make infrastructure investments because reliability concerns are typically driven by a modest subset of customers, there's inequities there, too, because if I'm a customer whose peak load going down or staying flat, I'm not causing the need for the infrastructure investment, but I'm still paying for it.

So there's inequities across the whole system, and it is reasonable to consider them; they just need to be considered in that broader context the.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  I apologize, Madam Chair, I went a minute or two over, but those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens. I understand you took your first few minutes asking about the examination -- and just as soon as I go off mute, someone knocked at the door.  So Mr. Brophy --


MR. BROPHY:  Again my camera seems to not recognize --I may need to reboot.

I got a note in the chat from Lisa DeMarco on behalf of Anwaatin.  She's had something urgent come up an asked if she could go next, and I have no trouble with that if it's okay with the Board.

MS. ANDERSON:  I have no trouble with that either.  Please proceed, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you so much.  Mr. Neme, I have just a few questions for you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:


First, to your knowledge, does the state of New York have a legislated carbon pricing system that applies to gas utilities?

MR. NEME:  Not to my knowledge.

MS. DeMARCO:  You would agree with me that the New York Public Service Commission itself sets a social cost of carbon?

MR. NEME:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And prior to December 31, 2021, would you agree that price was $47.30 per ton U.S.?

MR. NEME:  I can't speak to what that value was.  I don't know it off the top of my head.

MS. DeMARCO:  Could you undertake to confirm?  Would you take, subject to check, that the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation has on December 31st, 2020 set a -- the relevant carbon price for all state entities at a rate of 125 dollars U.S. per ton?

MR. NEME:  Subject to check.  I am somewhat familiar with analysis that New York has done to set a social price of carbon, because we are referencing it in the avoided -- New England avoided energy supply cost study that I talked to Mr. Poch about earlier.  The number that I recall was 128, so I may not be -- I may not have the exact number.  I would have to check.

MS. DeMARCO:  Could I just ask you to undertake -- check that number as well for me?

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry, do we have two undertakings or one undertaking?  I see --


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'll suggest that we'll just take -- make that one undertaking, which I assume would be J4.6.  Mr. Millar --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, who's speaking?

MR. POCH:  My apologies.  This is David Poch --


THE REPORTER:  Go ahead, go ahead, Mr. Poch, start again, please.

MR. POCH:  I'm going to suggest that Undertaking J4.6 -- Mr. Millar will correct me if I'm wrong -- simply be that Mr. Neme will check on what the social cost of carbon in New York is presently and is forecast to be in the following period.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'll see if I can just clarify it.  It's what the New York PSC had as the price of carbon as of December 31st or December 30th, 2020 and what the New York DEC has set as the price for all public entities as of December 31st, 2020.

MR. MILLAR:  And it's J4.6.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  TO ADVISE WHAT THE NEW YORK PSC HAD AS THE PRICE OF CARBON AS OF DECEMBER 31ST OR DECEMBER 30TH, 2020 AND WHAT THE NEW YORK DEC HAS SET AS THE PRICE FOR ALL PUBLIC ENTITIES AS OF DECEMBER 31ST, 2020.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Mr. Neme, you spoke of the Vermont system planning committee.  I note that nowhere are First Nations expressly mentioned or individually singled out for representation; is that fair?

MR. NEME:  I think that's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  Also fair to say that First Nations are not expressly constitutionally protected under the U.S. Constitution?

MR. NEME:  I can't speak to that.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  If you don't mind, I will take my leave as of this moment.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  And Mr. Brophy.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  It's Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  I just sent Cherida a note in the chat that I would leave and come back in to see if it fixes my camera, but I'm not going to do that now for the sake of time.  You can just picture my face.

So good afternoon, Panel and Mr. Neme.  I just had a few questions, and absorbing some of the information you shared with us today, which I think actually answered some of the questions, so I may be a little shorter than planned, hopefully.

So I don't know if you were following earlier this week, but -- and you may have heard, I was asking Enbridge some questions on their geothermal program that I just received and was referenced in the bill insert I get, given that I'm a customer, and more specifically, amortization rates or depreciation rates that they use for geothermal heat pumps or loops as a proxy maybe for other known gas alternatives.

So they indicated that the amortization period would be less than that of a pipeline, so less than 40 years, but they didn't know exactly what that number would be.  Do you have any idea what, you know, that kind of number would be?  I'm assuming it's less than 40 years.  Is that something you'd be aware of?

MR. NEME:  You're just talking about the loop for a geothermal system?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I guess, to make it apples to apples to a pipeline investment, I guess it would be the loop, but I guess  you could use maybe a weighted average between everything too, but to make it simple, whatever guidance you have would...

MR. NEME:  Well, generally speaking, if you're going to capitalize an investment, it seems that it ought to be capitalized approximately over its useful life, and especially for something that has a useful life of less than 30 years.  And I believe the loops of the geothermal heat pumps are usually forecast to last longer than the compressor does.

What would be an appropriate weighted average between the two I'm not really sure.  It's probably in the 25-year range, but that's just speculation off the top of my head, I think.  It's the kind of thing that's for any type of IRPA investment some analysis might need to be done to establish an appropriate amortization period.  It would be different for efficiency net programs, different for demand response programs, et cetera.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And I know it hasn't come up on the record yet as far as how Enbridge would capitalize these investments, but I'm assuming that would all have to get worked out at some point if it was capitalized, because there would be a period of time they'd be amortizing it for rate base purposes.

Okay.  This morning I was speaking with the Guidehouse panel about some parallels between where we are in gas IRP in Ontario and where we were when EB-0169 was developed and DSM was new in the 1990s.  In my mind there are some parallels that, you know, at that point in time there was some uncertainty, anxiety, you know, some rules that had to be borrowed from -- or looked at from other places and that kind of thing.

So does that -- you're familiar with DSM framework in Ontario and how it's evolved?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  In fact, I think the first time I ever testified as an expert witness was in 1994 on Enbridge Gas's or Consumers Gas at the time -- I think it might have even been the first energy efficiency plan case following EB-0169.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So are you -- do you agree that there might be some parallels to look at as far as how that was done and maybe some lessons learned on how we can approach an IRP framework?  And I'll go over two specific items just to make it clear.

You know, in the earlier days -- well, actually, I think for quite a while, from the beginning 'til maybe 10 years ago or so, the utility had a consultative stakeholder process where they would meet, I think it was maybe quarterly, with stakeholders to go through, get regular input, and discuss issues before they finalized their plan and filed anything with the Board.

Are you familiar with that process?

MR. NEME:  It vaguely rings a bell.  It's been a while.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I think you mentioned that you're familiar with the process that the OEB uses, the committee for evaluation and, you know, improvement of the process, because I think you say you currently sit on that for DSM, and I believe you have for some time; is that correct?

MR. NEME:  Yes, I have served on the Board's evaluation advisory committee since it was started in 2015, and prior to that I served on almost all of the Enbridge and Union evaluation and audit committees going back to 2000.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the question is, do you see value in having a committee at the Board level, which is Vermont type of example that you're using, which focuses on the IRP framework and certain issues, and then a complementary committee at the utility level to provide the more nitty-gritty feedback on the proposals that they're thinking of before they're brought forward to the OEB?  Do you think that makes sense to have those two layers?  I know Enbridge is saying that maybe they could handle all of it, but I wanted to get your opinion on, you know, should it be split between an OEB committee and a utility committee or where that should sit?

MR. NEME:  I'm not sure that I'm following your characterization of two separate committees, one that's at the Board level and one that's at the individual utility level.  I think it's important to remember in the context of energy efficiency that one of the committees that's historically been used was to assess what the utility's actually accomplished relative to their goals, because they had performance incentives at stake for meeting or exceeding those goals.

I'm not sure the same situation exists in the context of assessment of non-pipe alternatives.

So right now, I'm not sure I see a need for two different committees.  In fact, here could probably be synergies associated with rolling discussions of those disparate topics into -- under the umbrella of one entity, so individuals that have experience with one set of issues can bring their learnings as they're useful to discussions of other issues.

MR. BROPHY:  Those are the only questions I have left over.  As I said, a lot was addressed from what you talked about earlier, so thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  And Dr. Higgin, I believe you're next up.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, good afternoon, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Chris, good to see you again.

MR. NEME:  Good to see you, too.

DR. HIGGIN:  I'll be using Energy Probe compendium, Exhibit 3.1, page 7, and I'll be talking about the undertaking 3.10 that Mr. Stevens has already plowed the field related to this, but I'll do my best to try and pick up a few other points.

So if we can turn to that, that's on page 7, and we can go down to the first table and we will just confirm what this table is showing us.  So go down a little bit more, thank you.

This is the hypothetical table is the base case, I think you call it, and you assume in this that the peak demand on line 1 will continue to grow at two units per year for 25 years.

And then new infrastructure is put in place to meet this in year 5, and the DSM analysis is done and shows a net present value of 20.5 units.  Is that correct?  Have I interpreted this correctly?

MR. NEME:  You said the DCF analysis, so I'll correct you on that point.

DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry, the NPV analysis.

MR. NEME:  Yes, the net present value of the cost of this scenario building infrastructure would be 20,548 dollars.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify a couple of earlier assumptions, so let's deal with this question of the discount rate, and into that comes the question of inflation as well.  So is it 4 percent real, or is it utility times 6 percent?

MR. NEME:  I used a 4 percent real discount rate.  And just to be clear, utility discount rates which are commonly expressed in nominal dollars or nominal terms can also be translated easily into real discount rates as well.

The distinction between real and nominal dollars and discount rates is whether inflationary effects are included or not.

DR. HIGGIN:  We won't go back to the question of how does that affect the cost of the infrastructure.

The other question Mr. Stevens asked you was the fact that there is an omission, as he sees it, of the incremental utility.  Am I right that in the TRC test, this is not a factor to be considered?  Can you clarify that?

MR. NEME:  Yes, and not just in the TRC test; in the utility cost test and societal cost test and every test that I'm aware of that any jurisdiction uses for assessment of non-wires or non-pipe solutions, utility revenues are not included because the purpose of cost effectiveness tests is to answer the question of what is the least cost solution.  Revenues have nothing to do with costs.  And if you treat them as a benefit, you're conflating questions of cost effectiveness with issues of impacts in equity.

Those are two  separate themes and need to be analyzed separately.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's a major difference between the TRC test and the current DCF plus that Enbridge is proposing?

MR. NEME:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can we just look at your Table 2 -- briefly, not to go over everything again.  Just to confirm again that the base demand profile on line 1 is the same as the base case.

But in this case, the utility secures the demand reduction IRPA of one unit per year, and in years 1 to 10, this delays the infrastructure investment until year 10; is that correct.

MR. NEME:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to your clarification in-chief, please, which of the costs should be in your view now be amortized, which ones do you refer to?  Is it the DR incentive and rebate costs?  What is it that you say should be amortized?

MR. NEME:  I believe what should be amortized such that the utility is able to earn a rate of return on IRPA as it does on infrastructure assessment are the utility portions of these costs.  So it would be the DR incentives and the non-rebate costs.

To the extent there were any customer costs -- so costs borne by individual participants in the IRPA, but not paid for by the utility -- those would not be capitalized because those are borne by customers themselves.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just on that, you made a simplification, I think, that you don't show any of those other benefits in this case.  Can you clarify why -- maybe it's a simplification, nor the benefits --


MR. NEME:  Sure.  Generally speaking, demand response programs don't have significant avoided energy costs, because mostly they just shift load from on peak periods to off peak periods.

That's a generalized statement.  It is true that sometimes demand response initiatives have very small amounts of energy savings, and there's a value to that and they should be included.  But for simplicity purposes here, I did not include them.

And the same would be true of carbon.  If you have a tiny amount of energy savings, you would also have not only a small amount of avoided energy cost benefits, but you'd have some avoided carbon tax benefits as well.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I understood.  Could you look at the next page 9, and the targeted example that's Table III of your response.  Just to confirm that this is a geo-targeted energy efficiency example and you show a 10-year DSM or targeted energy efficiency program that delays the infrastructure until year 10.  Have I got that correct?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  It's the same incremental growth in the demand reduction per year out to year 10 as was for demand response.  It's just that it's done with energy efficiency instead of with load shifting.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just your clarification earlier, just to point to the benefits and costs, the amortization would be the EE incentives and the non-rebate costs, but not the costs -- other costs?  Or would you also include those other costs?

MR. NEME:  No, no, but -- you're only amortizing costs.  And you would only be amortizing the utility portion of the costs, which are the -- in this case the EE incentives and the EE non-rebate costs.  To the extent customers are contributing to the -- let's say part of your efficiency program is to offer a 500-dollar rebate on a 1000-dollar piece of more efficient water-heating equipment, gas water-heating equipment.  So the utility is picking up 500 dollars of the cost and the customer is picking up the other 500 dollars.  Only the utility portion of the investment, the utility 500 dollars, would be rate-based and amortized.  The portion that's borne by the customer is outside the system.

DR. HIGGIN:  So if we look at the benefits now, just to clarify what is presented here, in terms of the electricity savings, how do they arise?  They're on top of energy savings.

MR. NEME:  Sure.  So under the total resource cost test or the societal cost test, the cost-effectiveness framework is looking at the combination of utility system impacts plus program participant impacts, and many efficiency measures that reduce gas consumption have an ancillary benefit of also reducing electricity consumption, at least to some extent.  Not all of them, but some of them do.  And since those electricity savings are part of the participating customer impacts, they would be included under the TRC test and the societal cost test.

If you were to use instead the utility cost test you would exclude those electricity savings, because the utility cost test purview is simply the impacts to the gas utility system, but you would also then exclude, because you're only looking at the utility system impacts, any contribution to the measure costs that the customers are contributing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  I understand that.  So I think my understanding is good.

Just briefly to look at Table 4, if you could, just [audio dropout]  So the questions I had on this were I think about the measure life, particularly use DSM or the 

-- I looked at the table in that example, and I thought it was not 15, but it was 20.  Am I wrong?

MR. NEME:  No, you're wrong.  If you could scroll up to the efficiency table --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes?

MR. NEME:  -- scroll up a little bit, you can see that what's happening is that there's efficiency measures being installed in each of the first 10 years --


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. NEME:  -- so the efficiency measures installed in year one would provide savings from year 1 through year 15.  The ones installed in year 2 would provide savings from year 2 to year 16, and so on.  The ones installed in year 10 would provide savings from year 10 to year 24.

So you can see that what happens is if you're looking at the benefits, the benefits maximize in year 15 and then they start to decline as the savings from the first years of the program are no longer persisting.  They don't decline to zero until the savings generated in the very last year of the program are completely gone.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  I understand it better now, so thank you again for that explanation --


MR. NEME:  Yeah, I should say, this looks really complicated, but it's really not.  It's pretty standard practice.  People have been doing this.  We have been doing it in Ontario for 30 years on the DSM side of things.

DR. HIGGIN:  So now I just wanted to ask you, did you hear the exchange here between EGI and the Board about targeted energy efficiency being an IRPA but DSM not?  This is an example, just to clarify, targeted energy efficiency program.  This is the example you chose.

MR. NEME:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure I understood the question.  Could you repeat it?

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, for example, DSM is franchise-wide, and --


MR. NEME:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- it doesn't reduce the peak demand.

MR. NEME:  That's not true.

DR. HIGGIN:  Not to the same extent as targeted.

MR. NEME:  System-wide efficiency programs promote hundreds of different efficiency measures to residential, commercial, and industrial customers.  Many of those measures not only save energy across, you know, many hours of the year, but they also save them at the time of system peak, and distribution and transmission peaks.  Some save more at peak relative to what they save across the whole year than others, and there are some that probably don't save anything on peak, but in aggregate they can make significant contributions to peak load reductions.  It's what we call in the industry passive T&D investment deferral.

The cumulated effects of years of these programs across the system have inevitably deferred the year at which many T&D investments otherwise would have been needed.  If you have a geo-targeted efficiency program, it is true that it is likely -- well, it's almost certainly going to have more peak demand impacts for two reasons.  One is, by virtue of geo-targeting you're trying to actually amp the amount of savings up, so you're getting more measures installed in more homes and businesses; and then secondly, because your focus is on peak, you're going to emphasize more the measures that have a disproportionately higher impact on peak, at least relative to utility investment dollars than those that do not.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, how does the utility take into account in its infrastructure planning area-wide DSM, franchise-wide DSM?

MR. NEME:  How should they take it into account?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. NEME:  I addressed this topic at some length in my report.  It should start with forecasts of needs reflecting to the extent that they can what the likely future impacts are of the next several years and beyond of system-wide efficiency programs, the kind of measures that are being installed, the kind of facilities in which they're being installed, how that's likely to be different from the past or not, and so on, and I think I noted in my report that on the electric side of things ConEd started getting really sophisticated about this in New York, so that they were taking their system-wide efficiency programs, forecasting how much of each of those programs was going to save at each of their 70-plus distribution stations, substations.  


So not just looking at the system as a whole, but as aggregated substation level, and then recognizing that different types of buildings are more prevalent downstream -- some substations than others and that different programs have different profiles in terms of what time of day and what season of the year they produce savings, having much more granular assessments of what the impacts are of load growth for each of the components of the distribution system.  In an ideal world, that's what all utilities would be doing, electric and gas.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just one other question about risk.  Do you have any thoughts about risk to the utility ratepayers from demand reduction, targeted energy efficiency examples?  EGI has to serve customer demand safely and efficiently, and so basically, they don't add up to the same level of risk.  If you looked at -- did you have a chance to look at the Undertaking JT2.16 -- I don't know if you did -- that showed an analysis of risk.  Did you have a chance to look at that?

MR. NEME:  I'm not sure.  Could you bring it up --


DR. HIGGIN:  It's up on -- if you look at page 6 of this compendium.  Go down to the table, please.  Thank you.  It's okay if you didn't have a chance to look at this --


MR. NEME:  No, I've seen this.

DR. HIGGIN:  Then I'm just going to ask you about the fact that this seems to suggest that while financial, operational, reputational, then demand response particularly, and EE is a higher risk.

MR. NEME:  Yeah.  I don't think of risk in quite the same way that this table is presented, and let me explain why.  As I think I noted in my report, risk is a complicated thing, and -- but at some level you could and probably should think of it in two buckets.  One bucket -- the way I think of it, anyway, one bucket is reliability risk and the other bucket is financial risk.  From a reliability perspective the issue of risk associated with demand response and geo-targeted energy efficiency is, well, if I deploy those resources do I have just as much confidence that I will meet my reliability need as if I built an infrastructure project?  And I think what this table from Enbridge is trying to convey is that you wouldn't.  But I think there's a potential concern with that, which is that that may be true in the abstract.  If I knew I needed, you know, five units of peak demand reduction in five years and I thought I could get one unit a year from energy -- geo-targeted energy efficiency, and I said, okay, I'll press the go button I'm going to go get it.  Then the way this is characterized might be true, because we don't have nearly as perfect information about the reliability resource that efficiency would provide as we do for what the infrastructure investment would provide.

However, there are ways to address that in the way you deploy IRPAs.  So for example, if I said instead of going after five, one unit a year, I'm going after six, so I have some headroom.  And I'm going to start a year earlier, so if I'm not making as much progress as I thought, I can make adjustments.

If you make those kind of adjustments, which I think the company has suggested that they would.  I think ICF recommended them, and I think even Guidehouse spoke to them.  I would argue then you've levelized the playing field to a significant extent on reliability risk.

And then what is left is the question of financial risk.  Yesterday, Mr. Millar posed some questions on that point and I think they may not have been adequately addressed.  Because energy efficiency and demand response are more modular, rather than buying five units of capacity that I'm going to install right away, I'm buying one unit a year for the next five years or even 1.2 units a year for each the next six years, I buy myself time to figure out whether my load forecast of need was accurate or not.  And I might find out two years from now that after I purchased 2.4 units, that I don't need to purchase the rest because I have recalibrated my load forecast and it turns out the peak demand is hitting capacity much further out than I originally assumed.

There is an economic value to that modularity and the option value that it buys you.  That is a benefit that goes with demand response and energy efficiency and other distributed resources that is does not accrue to an infrastructure investment.

Similarly, investments in energy efficiency in particular insulate customers from future field price uncertainty, and there is an economic value associated with that.  And they insulate customers from uncertainty about future environmental regulation, and there's an economic value associated with that.

So I would argue that once you kind of levelize the playing field from a liability risk perspective, and I support the kind of adjustments that ICF and Guidehouse have talked about on that front, then on the economic risk, I would argue generally speaking, distributed resources are less risky investment than infrastructure investments.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much for that response. I'm sure that will become a matter for argument.  Those are my questions and thank you, Mr. Neme, for your response.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Neme.  We are going to take the afternoon break at this point, and we will come back at 3:20.
--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:21 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  We will carry on.  Mr. Millar, we missed an exhibit, I understand.

MR. MILLAR:  We did, Madam Chair, so my apologies.  This was the Enbridge compendium this afternoon, so we'll call it Exhibit K4.3.  And that was the compendium for Mr. Neme.  
EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  ENBRIDGE'S COMPENDIUM FOR MR. NEME


MS. ANDERSON:  Great, thank you.

So now we're on to Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Commissioners, and Mr. Neme and I have been greeting each other already, so we'll get right into it.  I'll just start my timer here as well, Madam Chair.

Mr. Neme, I just -- to start, I want to talk to you for a minute about something I think you said, and I think I got the note right.  Earlier -- might have been your examination-in-chief -- you said it's economically irrational to use a different test to evaluate the same resources for different purposes.  Did I mark that down right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the reason I puzzle a little bit is because later on you said during a cross-examination, evaluating an IRPA for cost-effectiveness requires a different test than evaluating an IRPA for rate impacts.  That's not a direct quote, that's my paraphrase.  Did you say that as well?

MR. NEME:  I did.  I think those two statements are completely compatible with each other.

MR. MONDROW:  So why is that?  Does the word "purposes" in your original statement refer to using the same resource for different purposes, as opposed to evaluating for different purposes?  Is that why?

MR. NEME:  I think the reason why is different than that.  It's that there is a -- it's important to distinguish between cost-effectiveness analysis, which answers the question what is the least-cost approach to accomplishing some end and rate impact analysis, right?  They are different tests or different types of analyses to answer different questions.  One answers the question, what is the least-cost solution, the other answers a question that's more around on equity.  Are rates going to go up or not and, if so, by how much.

So what I meant when I said that it's irrational to use different tests to assess the same resource for different purposes is that you should use the same cost-effectiveness test in all applications for judging the cost-effectiveness of different utility system investments.

So if I'm, for example, running an efficiency program to help you insulate your attic and I assess the cost-effectiveness of that investment -- utility program investment by quantifying the net present value of the energy cost savings and any kind of infrastructure cost savings and then compare it to the cost of the program, and I'm using the TRC test, I would also include any contribution you personally made to that investment, and then I go and I do that in the context of a system-wide efficiency program.  

If I were to do the exact same thing but in the context of an IRPA, where you're living downstream of a distribution supply constraint and I insulate your attic, it would be crazy to say, oh, the energy cost savings were worth 200 dollars when I ran this cost-effectiveness assessment under system-wide program, but when I'm doing it on a geo-targeted program it's only worth 100 dollars, that's just not plausible.  Or the value of the carbon reductions I got when I ran it as a system-wide program are half of the value of the carbon reductions that I get for some crazy reason when I run it as part of an IRPA.  

When the CO2 emission reductions are the same, the energy reductions are the same, the values have to be the same.  The only thing that's different in a geo-targeted application is that the avoided T&D costs can be different, but the framework that I use to analyze, the categories of impacts that I include, are the same, and unless there is a reason for the individual values for those different impacts to be different, and there is only a reason for them to be different for T&D, then they should be the same too.

MR. MONDROW:  But the TRC plus test captures those values on a broader basis than the utility cost test, for example, right?  It's a broader set of values.

MR. NEME:  Well, first of all, I just -- I want to make sure that I'm understanding what you mean by the utility cost test, because I think that term has been used a couple of times in recent days in ways that were inaccurate.  Do you mean utility cost test or do you mean stage 1 of the DCF plus test?

MR. MONDROW:  I don't know.  I mean the cost to the utility.

MR. NEME:  Well, just to be clear, when the term "utility cost test" is used in the industry, what it means is the sum of all utility system impacts, costing and benefits.  Revenues are not costs or benefits, so that's not part of the calculation.

MR. MONDROW:  I think -- I think -- I mean the DCF test.

MR. NEME:  You -- I think you mean stage 1 of the DCF plus test.  That's not a utility cost test, that is an assessment of whether revenues will be greater than the cost of the investment.  That's not a cost-effectiveness assessment, that is a rate impact assessment.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Let me come back to this.  I appreciate that.  I'll think about it a few minutes too, you said I can, while I'm asking my other questions.

Enbridge is proposing to capitalize and earn a return on IRPA costs, and as I understand the lay of the land, that mechanism serves to remove a disincentive for Enbridge to invest in a non-pipe versus a pipe alternative.  Would you agree with that?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  You suggest, though, in addition to that that Enbridge should get an incentive for investing in non-pipe alternatives; is that right?

MR. NEME:  I don't think I've said that exactly.  I think what I've said is that the Board may want to look at that question in the long run, whether an additional incentive over and above kind of the normal rate of return on capitalized asset is needed, but I would start with just a normal rate of return on the capitalized asset.

MR. MONDROW:  So you don't think an additional incentive is needed?

MR. NEME:  I think it's an open question.  I think we need to understand a little bit better what the economic impacts to the utility are of investing in IRPAs if those they are -- if those investment costs and the returns to shareholders are a tiny fraction of what they would have been had they invested in infrastructure, then an additional kind of kicker incentive might be appropriate.  If they're not so dramatically lower, then maybe it's not needed.

MR. MONDROW:  And let me suggest there's maybe another factor to that consideration.  Would you agree with me that the ability of Enbridge Gas Inc. to diversify into IRPAs if that's permitted mitigates their risk of future underutilization, perhaps even future obsolescence?  Do you agree with that?

MR. NEME:  Partially.  It depends on what those IRPAs are.  If in the short-run the IRPAs are really largely about, you know, energy efficiency and demand response and other things that reduce gas consumption and aren't really about investing in new products, district heating or other things that could be turned into a business enterprise for the utility, then that may not be true.

MR. MONDROW:  But even investing in energy efficiency or demand response initiatives, if the utility is allowed to capitalize those investments and earn a return, that diversifies their shareholders' ability to earn on various activities, doesn't it?  So if they could do that in perpetuity, they would future-proof their business that way.

MR. NEME:  Yes, I suppose at some level that's true, but there's also trade-offs associated with the fact that, you know, if you can achieve the same end at half the cost with an efficiency investment as you do with an infrastructure investment while you were getting diversification you're also -- you know, the absolute value of the dollars you're getting back are smaller too.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair.  But if Enbridge foresees a future in which in one scenario no one uses its infrastructure any more and in another scenario it's able to make diversified investments and continue to earn a return on those, the second scenario is a better outcome for them from a business perspective, right?

MR. NEME:  Sure.  Sure.

MR. MONDROW:  And to the extent that Enbridge is permitted to engage in that diversification while ratepayers bear the costs and the risk and the benefits, I suppose, that's a benefit to Enbridge's as a utility and to its shareholder?

MR. NEME:  A win/win.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to spend a couple of minutes talking to you about the cost benefit analysis or test.

First of all as background, would you agree -- and you may be aware of the evidence that Enbridge's witnesses gave about the objective of IRP is different from the objective of DSM.  IRPAs are about the least cost means of addressing a utility constraint, and DSM is about lowering customer energy usages and associated cost, and those are different purposes.

MR. NEME:  I don't think it's as clear cut as that.  I would suggest that when ever an investment is being made by a utility in its system, it should be cognizant of and designing and thinking about that investment in the broader context of the range of things it's trying to accomplish across all its different activities.

So I think it's fair to say that the principal goal of investing in an IRPA is to defer a specific capital investment, and that is certainly different than what you might think of as the purpose of system-wide DSM programs.  But when we value system-wide DSM programs, we include the value of deferred infrastructure in those assessments.  It's just a lower value because it's a system-wide average.  And when we value investments in T&D infrastructure, I think it's crazy to say all we're going to care about is the benefit of the deferral and we're going to ignore all the other benefits, or for that matter any other costs that is might be incurred or imposed along the way, relative to other things that are kind of foundational policy goals of the province.

MR. MONDROW:  I'll accept that.  But the primary purposes, I think you'd acknowledge, are different.  There are secondary and tertiary benefits to be accounted for, and you're clear about your views on that.

But your primary purpose of an IRPA versus a system-wide DSM investment or expenditure are different -- the primary purposes are different for each of those.

MR. NEME:  They are.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I appreciate that qualification.  Can I take you, please -- and Ms. Allman has kindly agreed to help me to your evidence.  I want to ask you something and if we can start at page 11 of that evidence, under the heading "summary of key points", the first bullet there, your evidence states:
"IRP is an dynamic form of cost-effectiveness analysis whose purpose is to identify which resources, supply and/or demand merit utility investment."


That's what we just talked about.  It goes on to say:  
"Given government policy objectives relevant to the utility's service territory."


Then I want you to flip with me please to page 13, where you deal in more detail with, among other things, the alignment of the IRPA with other governmental policy objectives, other than cost minimization.  At item 4, there's a list -- Ms. Allman, if you can scroll down there -- right there.

And that, Mr. Neme, is where we talked about these other government policy objectives and you say:

"IRP rules that should lead to investments that are aligned with governmental policy objectives.  If they do not, ratepayers will either pay additional costs in the future, and ultimately higher total costs to realign system investments with policy and/or incur unnecessary risk with a possible impact on other policy objectives should also be reflected in cost-effectiveness assessments."


Mr. Neme, can I take those passages together to indicate, in your view, the importance of including government policy objectives beyond cost minimization for distribution ratepayers in the analysis is essentially a mechanism to mitigate risks.  And in the passage I just read, I think you're talking about risks to ratepayers.  Is that a fair read of your position?

MR. NEME:  I'm not sure I would characterize it as just about mitigating risk, although I think that's an important component.

I think if you have policy objectives A, B and C and you optimize tests for policy objective A, you are inevitably going to make it more expensive and difficult to meet policy objectives B and C.

So the point of the statement is that when you're assessing or developing rules to guide investment decisions, they need to be established in the broader context of all the things you're trying to accomplish, both for cost reasons and for risk reasons.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

MR. NEME:  And possibly for other reasons, too, equity reasons.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I'm going to come back to equity in just a minute.  Am I correct, though, that beyond a comparison of the net cost to the utility, so the cost and revenues the ratepayer impact of infrastructure deployment versus non-pipe alternatives, you're not advocating any incremental test.

You think that that has to be jurisdiction specific and determined by the policy makers, in our case the regulator in the jurisdiction.  Is that right?

MR. NEME:  Yes, I think -- well, let me say it this way.  As you're probably aware, I am one of the authors of the National Standard Practice Manual for cost-effectiveness for distributed --


MR. MONDROW:  You need a catchier name for that.

MR. NEME:  What that document says at its core is that when you're assessing cost-effectiveness -- and these are -- the first two core principles of the eight principles in that manual are that, number one, all utility system impacts for energy costs, avoided capacity, avoided T&D, avoided environmental compliance costs, et cetera, all relevant to the utility system always need to be included in every test.

The second principle of the manual is it's then appropriate, beyond those utility system impacts that always need to be included, when you're thinking whether there are additional categories of impact that should be included, that should be a function of your jurisdiction's policy goals.

And there are some jurisdictions might say we don't have any other objectives, in which case what I call the utility cost test, which is not stage 1 of the DCF test, but is the full look at utility system impacts would become your test.

But if you have other goals around public health or economic development, or minimizing energy burdens for low income customers, or whatever the other categories of impacts that are relevant to your jurisdiction, the regulator should have a process to identify those and to determine which of those are clear enough policy goals from government that they ought to be reflected in the cost test.  Does that answer your question?

MR. MONDROW:  I think it does.  What if addressing public health -- what if addressing utility infrastructure and public health can be optimized, but in doing so, utility ratepayers pay more than they would without addressing public health.  Should the OEB still address public health?

MR. NEME:  It's a great question, so let me start answering it by saying the following.

The cost-effectiveness test that you use is the starting point.  The question it answers is whether this investments A, B, C, or D merit investment or not, whether they're lower cost in the alternatives or not, when considering all the relevant policy objectives.

That's a separate question from saying, okay, resource A, B, and C are cost-effectiveness, now how much should gas ratepayers be prepared to pay for it.  That's a separate request and that's where some of the other tests that some jurisdictions require beyond so -- again, most jurisdictions require that looking at non-wires alternatives or non-pipe alternatives require as the primary test either the total resource cost test or the societal cost test.  A couple require the utility cost test, but that's different than DCF stage 1.

But a number of jurisdictions, in addition to that primary test, have secondary test requirements related to the ratepayer impact test to assess what the rate impacts of the different choices are.  In some cases, they also have the utility cost test as a requirement, which is more narrowly looking at the impacts on the utility system, how much are ratepayers paying and what is the gas utility system getting back for those investments, and that  would exclude things like public health.  And you can use those secondary tests to help answer secondary questions, like how much would it be appropriate for ratepayers to pay for a particular resource.  If 95 percent of the benefits of that resource are public health and only 5 percent of them are lower gas costs, then maybe that's not the best choice.  That's a determination that can be made when looking at the results of those secondary tests in conjunction with your primary test.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you run into questions about whether economic utility regulators have the jurisdiction to charge or require the utility to spend money for the sake of public health, for example, or non-utility service benefit and put that into rates?  That seems to be a jurisdictional overreach to me.  How is that dealt with in the jurisdictions that you tout as examples?

MR. NEME:  Yeah, I think there are some jurisdictions where the regulators have determined that that's within their purview, but again, others have required these secondary tests, the utility cost test and/or the ratepayer impact test, in part as a way to kind of put a check on how much gas ratepayers or electric ratepayers would pay for a non-pipe or non-wire solution or for that matter just a general system-wide DSM program or any other type of investment.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for that answer, Mr. Neme.  I guess you would agree -- I think you'd have to agree -- that the Ontario Energy Board would have to consider and determine for itself how much jurisdiction it had to approve or direct the incurrence of costs for purposes other than utility services.

MR. NEME:  To be clear, I don't know what the legal answer to that question is.  I'm sure the Board would have to make that determination.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  I just want to -- and you've helped me with a lot, and I had one more area I want to ask you about, but just before I do that, you've said a few times, including not long ago, within the last hour, I think, that every utility investment has the potential for and most probability the effect of an inequity as between different types of -- different customer classes, different ratepayers, and you said there's one thing -- one thing that mitigates those inequities are the number of, in our context, IRPAs, so in DSM, for example, ratepayer impact is mitigated, in your view, I think, and I think most people would agree to the extent that there is a broad array of programs that give almost all ratepayers, if not all ratepayers, the opportunity to participate in realized savings, and that mitigates this potential for inequity as among rate classes, right?

MR. NEME:  Well, not just among rate classes, but among customers within the same rate class.

MR. MONDROW:  Within rate classes.  Right.  Now, IRPAs are by definition targeted, there to relieve particular system constraints, but I gather what you're saying is down the road when we get to enough different IRPAs most customers will benefit in some fashion from some basket of IRPAs at some point.  Is that the view?

MR. NEME:  That's part of what I'm saying.  It's not the only thing I'm saying.  It's not just that multiple IRPAs over time will engender greater participation across customers, it's that multiple IRPAs combined with system-wide DSM programs and whatever other kind of myriad of investments the utilities make that different customers benefit differently from can have the effect of mitigating concerns about inequities associated with one particular investment.

MR. MONDROW:  Let me suggest to you that there is a second layer of inequity here.  So there is always an inequity as between customers, because different customers benefit differently from a utility service, and yet they all pay a unit rate, and as long as they're postage stamp or unit rates, there are by definition inequities, and I accept that.

Here we're talking about using -- you're talking about using a fairly broad societal type cost test, or TRC test or resource cost test, that could raise the cost of an IRPA replacement of a piece of utility infrastructure, so not only are those -- are there those standard inequities, but customers who don't benefit from that particular removal of that particular constraint pay more in respect of the customers that do than they would but for the societal view of cost and benefits.  Isn't that true?  So it exacerbates the inequity, using a broad test.

MR. NEME:  I want to make sure I follow the question.  Your question --


MR. MONDROW:  I wish I could be as eloquent as you.  I'm sorry.

MR. NEME:  No, no, no.  So I think what you're saying -- tell me if I have this right -- is that if an infrastructure costs 10 and an IRPA costs 12 but is deemed cost-effective because it provides a whole bunch of other benefits to the participating customers, that the -- that from a total resource cost test perspective has greater economic value than the infrastructure investment, that customers who are not downstream of that supply constraint are footing the bill for the extra two units of cost.  Is that -- is that --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. NEME:  -- the example you're giving?

MR. MONDROW:  As opposed to a 10-dollar bill or their share of a 10-dollar bill, they're now going to pay their share of a 12-dollar bill for these additional benefits downstream of the constraint relative to the utilities -- the infrastructure...

MR. NEME:  Sure.  That is absolutely true and that's absolutely what would happen, but again, I think you would have to consider that in the context of not only all the IRPAs that might be pursued over time across the entire system, but all of the other system investments that are being made too.  So some -- you know, many of those customers may be participating in system-wide DSM programs, to give one example, and gotten lots of economic value out of that participation.

It's just, it's really hard and I think problematic and challenging to say we're going to look at equity purely through the narrow lens of the impacts on customers of one investment in one tiny small sub-segment of the system at one point in time and ignore all of the other investments that occur across the system more broadly over time when thinking about equity.

MR. MONDROW:  I want to take two extra minutes and ask you one question that's been nagging at me over the last few days in particular, and I don't think anybody has talked about it.  So Enbridge Gas Inc. wants to engage in non-utility infrastructure solutions and earn a return on a regulatory asset that's created as a result of expenditures that are not investment of capital by the shareholder, and they testified that they don't really want any constraints on the breadth of activities that they can undertake as long as whatever test is landed on met.

And it seems to me that both of those things, earning on a notional investment of capital, which isn't really an investment at all, earning a return on that, and stepping potentially way outside the boundaries of utility -- regulated utility services, and they're regulated for a reason.  We can talk about the reasons one day, perhaps.

But rightly or wrongly, those two things represent individually and in tandem even more so a significant departure from the longstanding economic regulatory model within Ontario, indeed probably everywhere in the western world, and I don't want to debate the merits of that with you, because we'd need probably a month to do so, although it would be interesting to do one day perhaps over lots of wine.

But what I do want to ask you is, in your experience how is that being addressed in other jurisdictions?  I mean, we are shedding under this proposal much of the existing economic regulatory model that this Board operates under and is statutory empowered to implement, and that must be happening in the jurisdictions you're talking about, the leading jurisdictions.  How do regulators deal with that?

MR. NEME:  Well, there's a -- I think there's a couple of parts to your question, and hopefully I'll remember and get to all of them, but you can follow up if I forget parts of it.

Let's talk about the part about investing in things or getting rates of return on things that you might not have traditionally thought of as capital.  There are other jurisdictions that have -- not only exploring but have begun to do that as part of an approach to try to create an environment in which the utility has a viable business model for doing the right thing, the lower-cost, greener, cleaner, cheaper thing for its customers.

So for example, you know, I mentioned earlier, I do a lot of work in the state of Illinois on a variety of issues, including energy efficiency, and four years ago the legislature there passed a bill which the governor signed and went into law that would allow the state's electric utilities to capitalize all of their energy efficiency DSM program investments over the weighted average measured life of those -- of the savings that they provide and to earn a rate of return on them with the rate of return pegged to their performance relative to savings goals.  So if they meet their savings goal, they get 100 percent of the normal rate of return.  If they exceed them by a certain amount, they can get a bonus rate of return.  If they fall short, they can earn a penalty on the rate of return.

So that's an example of rate basing capitalizing investments or spending, I should say, that historically were expensed and historically were not treated as capital but are now effectively treated as capital for the purposes of enabling the utilities to have a business model as the world evolves in which they can make money doing things most folks think of as the right thing.

I think this is a very similar situation we're talking about here with respect to capitalizing IRPA costs.

The second part of your question had to do I think with the flexibility the utility is asking for, to look at a broad range of things we might consider IRPAs.  Is that right?

MR. MONDROW:  That's right, and indeed the testimony is they don't want any restriction on what they can look at.

MR. NEME:  Yes, and what's the question about that?  What's the concern you wanted to ask about?

MR. MONDROW:  What they look at could have nothing to with the regulated utility service as it's been in place for a hundred years or more -- in Enbridge's case in particular, probably 125 years.

MR. NEME:  So off the top of my head, I have a couple of reactions to it.  At some level, putting aside the caveat I'm about to come to in a second, I think it's important a utility has flexibility to look at a range of options, including ones you might not be able to think of today because we want them to come up with innovative solutions at lower cost.

That said, because a distribution utility is a regulated monopoly, it's probably appropriate to have an eye to ensuring that there -- we're not putting them in a position where they have an inappropriate competitive advantage to compete with private suppliers of certain types of services in the market.  It may be important to keep an eye on that and make that sure that doesn't happen, but they could still procure those resources through the existing market, for example through an RFP or something else like that that doesn't run into that problem.  And in that context, I'm not sure what the nature of the concern might be.

MR. MONDROW:  They're doing it at ratepayer costs -- I mean, they can do whatever they want on their own outside of regulation.  But they want to do it within regulation and be completely protected from any risk, and that's not how regulation works.

MR. NEME:  I'm not sure they would be completely protected from any risk.  I would imagine the Board would need to retain its authority to deem certain investments imprudent because they were wasteful, for example.  You could have done something much less expensive than you did, and therefore what you did you're not going to get full cost recovery on.

I can't imagine anyone is asking the Board to give up that level of oversight and ability to assign penalties to the utility, if they need to.

MR. MONDROW:  In any event, I don't want to cut you off, Mr. Neme.  By all means finish up, but I'm over time.

But I want to get you to agree, I hope, that stepping out of what they do historically and what they're regulated on historically, and what they earn a return on historically is a significant and emerging issue.

I mean, you talk about this happening elsewhere, but it's very much a emerging paradigm, right?  It's new and some jurisdictions are a bit further ahead, but we've heard over the last four days that this is all pretty nascent stuff.  Interesting no doubt, and perhaps important, but still nascent.  Would you agree with that?

MR. NEME:  I think it's fair to say the energy world and energy regulation has been changing a lot in recent year, and this is definitely a relatively recent concern.  Again, I think if we're going to be concerned about it, we have to be clear what the concern is.  Is it about wasting money?  Is it about unfair competition with other market actors?  What exactly is the concern?

We can put guardrails around what they're allowed do to address any of those concerns that are reasonable.  But simply the fact that they're putting money into something they historically haven't to deliver a service, like enhancing reliability at a cost that's lower to customers than the alternatives, I'm not seeing -- I'm not sure I see why that's inherently problematic.

There may be more detailed reasons why it is and to the extent we can articulate what those are and put guardrails around them, we should.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I've gone way over time so I will stop there.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, Mr. Neme.  I expect to be very brief.  I know we've had a long hearing, but there's just really one area I wanted to go over with you, and this relates to stakeholdering.

I asked Enbridge questions about stakeholdering and the idea of committees, so I want to put similar questions to you.

Just to preface these questions, it seems that everyone agrees there should be some form of stakeholdering that goes along with IRPs and IRPAs, but there may be some disagreement over exactly what form that might take.

One of the things I asked about was the evaluation advisory committee we have on the DSM side, and we're fortunate that we have a real live member of that committee here, which is you.

MR. NEME:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You served on that committee for a number of years?

MR. NEME:  I believe this is my sixth year, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I asked Enbridge if this might serve as a model for something we might do on the IRP side, and obviously there would be different content and things like that. But in terms of the structure of that committee, what thoughts could you give us as to how appropriate that might be in an IRP context?

MR. NEME:  I think I might have referenced that as kind of reference point to consider at some -- maybe in my presentation a couple weeks ago.  I think some of the aspects of that committee that I think are potentially relevant here and would be workable would be to have a manageable group of stakeholders represented by not everybody and their brother, but a representative subset of individuals working with the utility and with Board Staff to explore technical issues is a very valid concept.

In the case of the evaluation committee, it's currently run by Board Staff.  I think I've suggested in the not too distant past that I think that could be a reasonable approach to take.  I know Ms. Van Der Paelt said that was one of the things she took issue with; she said the utility should run it.

In my experience, it's better for those kind of stakeholder processes to be facilitated at least by an entity other than the utility.  So if it's not Board Staff, perhaps an independent facilitator can be hired to serve that role, so that there's no potential for concerns about unfair treatment, agendas not reflecting the issues everybody wants to talk about, et cetera.

I'll note that the Illinois stakeholder advisory group on energy efficiency programs that I've participated in the last 10 years in Illinois is run by an independent facilitator that the utilities pay for, but who is selected in collaboration with a steering committee, if you will, of stakeholders and the utility.

Maybe I'll pause there.  I'm not sure I fully answered your question.  But those are the thoughts that immediately come to mind.


MR. MILLAR:  You've more than fully answered my question, because I was going to follow up on exactly those points because I'm a member of Board Staff and not personally involved in the EAC, but I did understand -- I'm not sure what you would stall, but either a facilitator or coordinator, something like that in charge of it.  But you wouldn't say Enbridge is in charge either.  It's -- and I know that was something that Ms. Van Der Paelt discussed as well.  But I think you addressed all of that, so you've gotten in front of my questions.  

And indeed, I think you've answered all my questions, so given that we are past four o'clock on day four, maybe I will leave it at that, and thank you very much, and Madam Chair, I'll pass it back to you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  So we will have Commissioner questions at this point.  Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions?
Questions by The Board:

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I have sort of a simplistic question here.  What we are designing as an IRP framework is not a machine in which we can just simply put the data in and come out with the result.  I was wondering, what elements of the process of determining the decision on whether or not IRPAs are viable or not and they must meet the system constraints, what elements have to be met through either consultation, utility flexibility, OEB approval, that will accommodate both the evolution and refinement of alternatives, as well as the individual circumstances of the constraint?

MR. NEME:  I want to make sure I'm understanding your question properly.  Are you asking me what are the decisions that the Board needs to make now on the framework, as opposed to which ones can be punted or can evolve over time as we gain more experience?  Is that the nature of your question?

MR. JANIGAN:  That may be part of it, but also, there's processes that exist outside of the -- in the application of the framework that have to be dealt with in some way, either by, you know, the consultative process, giving the utilities more flexibility, or some kind of OEB approval process that you can't build into the framework itself, primarily because there is an evolution of alternatives or --


MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- there may be individual aspects of the constraint that differ, and that you can't just jam it into one framework that we can live with in this decision.

MR. NEME:  Gotcha.  So let me try answering the question this way, and you tell me if I've fully captured what you were looking for.  I think there are several stages to the process of assessing the appropriateness of an IRPA.  One of them is you have to do your load forecast to identify what reliability needs are coming down the pike, and if you're looking 10 years out, which the company has now said it would, that's a reasonable enough time horizon for now.

The second is you have to apply your pre-screening criteria, and there's been some debate and discussion about the ones that Enbridge has proposed.  I've suggested some of them are not bad and others need some refinement, but wherever we end up on that, those criteria need to be probably memorialized in a framework.

Then there is the more detailed analysis if you pass that first screen of whether it's possible to get enough IRPA resource to -- never mind the cost -- to defer or to meet a reliability need, and then if there is enough there is the assessment of, can we get it cost-effectively enough to make it cheaper, and then ultimately if the answer to both of those questions is yes, there is a plan that needs to be put together to actually go out and acquire those IRPA resources or, alternatively, if the answer is no, there is an infrastructure, a leave-to-construct proposal.

I think a lot of my answer to your question comes back to what we were just talking about with respect to the stakeholder process and related regulatory process.  If we have a robust stakeholder process with a committee or a working group, whatever you want to call it, that has a real genuine deep dialogue about an exploration of data and analysis and all the rest of it, that it's just not possible for individual Board members or Board panels to kind of dive into very easily, anyway.  That can be a really important -- as part of getting through the challenge of the fact that there are unique aspects of every situation, and we need to navigate our way through that, but I also think it's really important that there be a back -- regulatory backstop, for a couple of reasons, and I say regulatory backstop meaning I think the Board -- it's important that the Board ultimately be asked to approve what has been pre-screened out, using, you know, what Enbridge calls its binary criteria for the Board to approve even if something passed that binary screening process, what got screened out because you couldn't get enough of it or you couldn't get enough of it in time to defer an investment or you couldn't get it at a lower cost, so that you have Board approvals potentially at a couple steps down the road before you get to a submittal of a -- either an IRP plan or a leave-to-construct proposal for Board approval.

There's two reasons for that.  One is -- one has been talked a little bit about in the last couple days, which is, if there is no requirement for Board approval until an actual plan has been put forward, you will in many cases end up in situations where the Board is kind of stuck, because it's -- even if it agrees with parties that something else might have been better or it would have been viable and the utility deemed it not viable, then -- but there may just not be enough time to kind of go back and relook and develop an alternative plan.

But the other reason is I think it reinforces the viability of the stakeholder engagement process.  If the utility knows that ultimately their decisions on what gets pre-screened out or their decisions on what is cost-effective -- you know, what is cost-effectively achievable are going to get, you know, the Board's review and approval or rejection, there will be more, I think, genuine, robust discussion in the kind of stakeholder working group committee process that we just talked about.  


And I think ultimately that's going to be vitally important, because we've talked about a lot of details of IRP in this proceeding, but new ones are going to keep coming up.  They always do.  Even in the DSM world, where we've been doing this in North America for 40 years, new policy nuances crop up, and you have to deal with them.  And having a robust process that has that regulatory backstop will enable those things to be addressed without having to kind of micro-manage in a 4,000-page rule book upfront and what this has to look like.

Does that answer your question?

MR. JANIGAN:  I think it does.  I think what the process you're talking about that exists before the submission of a formal plan, would that be kind of like a pass/fail sort of situation for the OEB to look at?

MR. NEME:  I'm not 100 percent sure what you mean by pass/fail, but I think -- let me put it this way.  I think the Board -- you know, the company might come forward with its, you know, asset management plan and say, you know, we've identified 100 new potential needs, we've screened 62 of them out, and it's not -- through our pre-screening criteria, and the Board would be able to take a look at that and say, yeah, that seems reasonable, so now we don't have to argue about them any more, because, you know, we can move on, but unless something changes, and things will change about them over time, but now we can move on to the next step in the process, and as long as there is an opportunity for -- in that process for stakeholders to have discovery and collect data and challenge some of those to the extent that they merit challenging and then allow the Board to reach conclusions, then, yeah, then I think that would kind of short-circuit a lot of potential problems down the road.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Frank?

MS. FRANK:  You've already just been talking quite a bit about the one area I wanted to explore with the screening criteria, that binary screening criteria that's being proposed, and I understand we have an undertaking to actually better define it.  But the struggle I'm having is, are we missing things?  Are there other items that really need to get into that binary screen, and how long can it -- you know, whatever we come up with a framework, how long does it live?  You know, does it -- can it stick around for a few years or, no, you have to constantly, constantly modify it, so your thoughts on that would be helpful.

MR. NEME:  Sure.  I think one of the best point of references to the first part of your question is -- which is, you know, are there anything -- is there anything missing from those pre-screening criteria -- is the experience of the jurisdictions that have looked at this, because there were many more of them from the non-wires perspective.

I think the only kind of pre-screening criteria that I can think of that have come up in the context of non-wire solutions are the magnitude of the load reduction that -- some jurisdictions have a screening criteria around the magnitude of the load reduction, that's possible, and they link it to time.  So the longer period of time, the higher the magnitude of the load reduction we would allow for, in terms of leeway for considering alternatives.

I don't know that we know enough yet about how this would work on the gas side to put that kind of constraint in place at this stage.  So I don't -- my gut reaction to your question is I wouldn't add any criteria to the ones the company has put forward.  I would actually tone down or more narrowly constrain some of the ones they put forward.  But I can't think of any that I would add at this stage.

That said, and this is trying to get to your question about how often do we need to update this framework, there may be something that gets revisited in future iterations of the framework.  I do think it should be a living document.  I don't think we want to be reopening it three times a year by any means; that's kind of crazy.

I think probably the next time it might make sense to revisit might be three years now, when pilot projects have been completed, because we might have learned enough from them to merit reconsideration of what gets put into the framework.  But I would let it live and percolate for at least that long before revisiting it unless -- absent  some kind of emergency thing that somehow we all missed and didn't think of that crops up.

MS. FRANK:  That's very helpful, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Neme, I know we've gone through some of this, and this is all the different tests.  So yes, I get the debate between the DCF plus or the GRC plus as the cost effectiveness test that includes are revenue and cost, correct?

MR. NEME:  The DCF plus test blends revenues with cost Impacts, which blends rate impact assessment with cost effectiveness assessment.  And my suggestion is that those things need to be separated.  It's okay do rate impact assessment, but it needs to be separate analysis from the cost effectiveness assessment.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, because that was getting to where my real question is, because I heard about the utility cost test which was the utility's cost, and we know about the societal cost test which brings in the societal element.  But you mentioned a RIM, so the rate impact and what it --


MR. NEME:  Measures, impact measure test, yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  How does that work?

MR. NEME:  It's not unlike the stage 1 of the DCF plus or the EB 0134 proposal.  It treats revenue increases as benefits, revenue losses as costs, quote/unquote and in essence, it measures whether over the life of the investment the revenues will cover the costs.  It measures whether the rates will go up or down or a levelized average basis over the life of the investment.

I personally don't think it's the best way to assess rate impacts because it doesn't provide as much information as might be useful.  If you're looking at a 40-year investment, it will give you a net present value of rate impacts over 40 years.  They can be really low for a bunch of yeas and then go up, or vice versa, and seeing with a that spread looks like over time and seeing how large they are in magnitude.  You can get net present value, and I'm not sure what that means.  Nevertheless, that's what it intends to address.

It's been a test that California developed 40 years ago maybe that has been used as a secondary test in a variety of applications off and on in different jurisdictions ever since.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, that's helpful.  The word average was very helpful.  So it does not get into cost allocation issues within one group or the other.

MR. NEME:  No.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So you said it's maybe not the best one.  Is there a better rate impact test?

MR. NEME:  The national standard practice manual has an appendix on assessing rate impacts that might be a good reference to look at.  And I think one of the important things it talks about is that is important -- the context I was discussing with Mr. Mondrow, that it's important to look at rate impacts, bill impacts, cost savings or increases, and participation, like how many customers are benefiting or not benefiting.  If you look at the three legs of the stool together in an aggregate way over a multi year time horizon, in a nutshell.

There's more detail you can get to, if you want to look at the appendix.

MS. WALTER:  Apologies, it seems that Commissioner Janigan has fallen off the line.  I will put the --


MS. ANDERSON:  I was done, so we were just at the point of redirect with Mr. Poch.  Can I ask whether you have a redirect?

MR. POCH:  I do have one question, if you can indulge me.

MS. ANDERSON:  I thought if you didn't, we might have carried on with administrative matters.  But if you do, we should get Mr. Janigan back on the line.

MR. POCH:  If it helps you, I'm happy if you want to interrupt this to deal with administrative matters.  We can come back and deal with the last question, if you prefer.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Why don't I just cover a couple of administrative matters, since I've already talked to Mr. Janigan about them, if you would hold on, Mr. Neme, we will come back to you.

I guess the first question -- and it does involve you, Mr. Poch and Mr. Millar and Mr. Stevens -- is that each of your panels have had some undertakings, and I want to get a sense of what your timing is like for those undertakings.  Maybe we'll start with Mr. Poch and Mr. Millar first.

MR. NEME:  I probably can't work on it tomorrow, but I could work on it Monday and get it to you no later than Tuesday, if that is workable.

MS. ANDERSON:  I was looking for an answer that was not saying it's going to take two weeks, so that sounds acceptable.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  We haven't spoken with Guidehouse, but I expect a few days and certainly not a couple of weeks.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stevens, you have obviously the bulk of them with Enbridge.  There is one that's been referred to numerous types, which is the criteria one, which is obviously is one people will be looking for, the update to the criteria that -- the greater explanation of your sixth criteria.

But as far as that and all of them, what are you thinking about as far as timing?

MR. STEVENS:  We're certainly aiming, Madam Chair, to get them down next week. I just counted and I think there are 26 of them.  They mostly involve the witnesses who are freshly off the witness stand and are probably still catching up on sleep right now.

But we'll get them done as quickly as we can, and aim to have all substantially done next week.

We understand the question asking about further details on screening criteria is important to parties, so we will ensure its he part of the first answers provided.

MS. ANDERSON:  Great, thank you.  My only other administrative matter was to reiterate we will have a procedural order coming out for submissions.  Staff is telling me that they're hoping that -- we're aiming for tomorrow all going well, all schedules going well to get that out.  But as a reminder that it's March 17 for argument-in-chief, March 31st for submissions, and April 21 for reply submissions.  That's what will be in it.

MR. QUINN:  If I might, I wanted to ask as we heard the direction this morning, I understood you were asking that intervenors follow the outline of Enbridge's argument.  We understand how that's valuable to the Board and we want to be doing that, but what we were trying to do is understand what that outline might look like to ensure that we can structure our work towards preparing our argument, align with that.  And if there are exceptions, as we may have different views than Enbridge, where those might fit in the ultimate list, so we were wondering if Enbridge may undertake to provide to stakeholders its outline, you know, in a reasonable amount of time ahead of just waiting for their argument-in-chief to be able to get the outline and then start our work.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I guess the first thing before Mr. Stevens answers, I think -- and I would have to go back through the transcript -- that I said to the extent possible.  You know, obviously I've been there where I've had submissions all in a different format, and I can -- trust me, that makes our work far more difficult, so that certainly is our goal.

You know, I don't know whether Enbridge has had the opportunity to think about the structure, but Mr. Stevens, do you have any thoughts about that?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, the structure in the way that we're going to approach the argument is top of mind -- excuse me -- and, you know, we're going to be getting to that as soon as we can.  We don't have that figured out yet.  And I just, I can't undertake as to a particular time when we might have that.  As you can imagine, creating argument is something of an iterative process.

We certainly -- taking the Panel's comments into account, we will be sure to structure it in a way that we think captures what are the key elements, but we certainly can't -- also can't promise that our structure will accommodate all the areas that are interesting to other parties.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.  And so that's why it's not an absolute, Mr. Quinn, it's a -- you know, to the extent possible.  We understand that there are overlapping issues, and that can affect how we structure it.  It's just, you know, where it's possible, that just makes the work on our end much more straightforward.

MR. QUINN:  No, I understand.  We will certainly follow that, but could we ask, Mr. Stevens, if you would be able to send at least the outline of the argument in advance of the final submission of the argument-in-chief on the 17th?

MR. POCH:  Can we just clarify, for those of us listening?  I'm assuming, Mr. Quinn, you're just saying all we'd love is a list of the topics that you'll be addressing in some detail, not your position, just the sequence of topics, so we can just start to structure our -- break up our concerns to fit those topics if possible?

MR. QUINN:  Exactly.  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

MS. ANDERSON:  I apologize.  A table of contents I think may be a way of --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- that.  But I certainly understand, Mr. Stevens, that's not something you have immediately at hand, you have to do some thinking about, but --


MR. STEVENS:  Well, I mean, with the notion that it would be sort of on a best-efforts basis and would represent our current thinking at the time.  I think we could try to have something out to the parties, sort of halfway through our process, if I can put it that way, so say a week from now.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Thank you, Madam Chair, for the opportunity to speak.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I do note we've provided, I guess, two weeks for those submissions following the argument in-chief, and so I think there is time.  Obviously, you can be structuring what you want put into it in the meantime.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And just to be clear, I assume this is obvious, but we would just be providing it to parties in an offline sort of fashion and we wouldn't be providing it to the Board Panel members or filing or committing to it in any way, but just doing the best we can to help others.

MR. QUINN:  Certainly acceptable to us, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Best effort.  Okay.  Thank you.

Ms. Walter, I'm not seeing Mr. Janigan.

MS. WALTER:  He is back on the line, but there is no video working at this time.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm here, but I turned off my video.

MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, okay.  Excellent.  I think -- just before we close off administrative matters and go back, I think that was it on my front from administrative matters, so we will turn it back to Mr. Poch for his redirect.
Re-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan has seen my face way too much.  I don't think he is missing it.

Mr. Neme, I just have the one question.  Near the end of Mr. Stevens' cross-examination of you on behalf of Enbridge, you were talking about how your model -- and you were dealing with a particular example.  You -- mock-up you gave in 310A -- how it dealt with the situation where you have a useful life of energy efficiency measures, for example, that has a different longevity than the useful life of the facilities alternative, and Mr. Stevens sort of at the end said, well, look, we can continue that debate in argument, but I think it might be helpful to the Board if you could just give a couple of examples to demonstrate how your approach accommodates that issue.

MR. NEME:  Okay.  I'll try.  I think the starting point for the conversation and for the explanation is to say that when you're looking at an IRPA scenario and you're looking -- comparing it to an infrastructure scenario, you need to lay out over time when different investments are going to be made to meet the same reliability need at the same level, and that's what I tried to do in the example that we were talking about earlier.

The fact that the IRPA investment, let's say in efficiency program lasts only 15 years and that the pipe infrastructure investment lasts 40 years in and of itself isn't all that relevant, other than that when you amortize it and turn it into a revenue requirement you're going to amortize one over 15 years and the other over 40.

So when you're -- so think about this hypothetical, that we have a supply constraint that's forecast to occur in 2025 because of current load growth, and that current load growth is projected to continue on through 2030 and then for whatever reason is supposed to -- is then forecast to decline, such that by 2035 we're right back where we started, where we don't need -- where we don't have a constraint.

In that scenario we basically have a need for a solution for 10 years, from 2025 to 2035.  We can meet that need by investing in a DSM IRPA.  Maybe to ramp it up you have to start in '21 and, you know, you get increments of savings from '21 through '25 and maybe even in subsequent years, but when you've got enough of that, you can stop.  When you've got enough of that IRPA, that DSM or energy efficiency peak demand saving to meet the reliability need over the period that it's forecast to be needed -- and in this hypothetical let's put 2030 -- 2025 to 2035 -- you just acquire that much DSM and then you stop, and whatever it costs is what it costs, and whatever other benefits that come with it come with it.

Now, when we look at the infrastructure alternative in that scenario, we would build the infrastructure in 2025, because that's when the constraint kicks in, and presumably the infrastructure would be more than adequate to cover the time period during which the constraint would exist, in this hypothetical again from 2025 to 2035, and then the fact that the infrastructure has another 30 years of life after the constraint is gone, kind of irrelevant.

It's -- we had to spend the money -- if we had no IRPAs and the only solution was an infrastructure investment, we would have had to make the infrastructure investment in 2025, and it would have lasted 40 years and got amortized over 40 years.  Even if we really didn't need the last 30 years of it, it was still something we needed for the first 10, and so we made the investment.

In the case of the DSM alternative, we might only need it for 10 years, and so we only run it for 10 years, and then we're done, and the constraint goes away.  I'm not sure what the concern is there.  In some ways it actually highlights the potential -- one of the potential advantages of some IRPAs in the fact that they're much more modular than, you know, larger, clunkier, chunkier one-time infrastructure investments.

Mr. Poch, you're muted.

MR. POCH:  I think Mr. Stevens was concerned about the situation where the need persists beyond the life of the first round of DSM, and how would your assessment deal with that.

MR. NEME:  So if the need persists beyond the first, you know, 10 years of running a DSM IRPA, then you either do more DSM to continue to defer -- to continue to address the supply constraint and defer any infrastructure investment further out in time, or you may reach a point in time, as was the case in the hypothetical that I presented in the undertaking, where you can't get enough DSM or demand response and you have to make the infrastructure investment.  And in that case, the benefit 

-- or one of the benefits of the IRPA is that you were able to defer the need for the infrastructure by five years or 10 years, or however many years you deferred it, and there is an economic benefit to the deferral.  And in my hypothetical in the undertaking, I assumed that was a five-year deferral.  

And if you look at the net present value of the cost of the infrastructure investment in the infrastructure scenario and compare it to the net present value of the infrastructure investment when it occurred five years later, you can subtract the difference from the two and see the value of the deferral.  And then you have to add to the value of that deferral the other benefits, if there are any, that the IRPA brings when you're computing an overall cost effectiveness assessment.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I'd like to thank the court reporter, and Ms. Allman, and Board Staff for facilitating all of this.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Poch, and thank you, Mr. Neme.  We're concluding with your panel.

Just to add to what Mr. Poch has said, I don't know if all of you know that over the last year, we've had numerous virtual events, but this was our first foray into cross-examination at an oral hearing virtually.  And so yes, I just wanted to add my thanks particularly to OEB Staff who I think had to do three rounds of training for us Commissioners to get us ready with the four different screens that we work with at any point in time.

Thank you also very much to the parties for all of your -- I know this wasn't as easy for you as well, and all of your cooperation on this.  We had only some minor technical glitches that certainly didn't affect the panel's understanding of the events as they were presented.

So do I want to pass on very much our thanks to everyone that participated.  And with that, I think we are closing for the day and we will say our farewell.  
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:34 p.m.
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